
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Planning Committee 

on Wednesday, 30 November 2022, at 11.00 a.m. 

in the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, 
Kendal 

Committee Membership 
 

Councillors 
Rupert Audland 

Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 

Philip Dixon 

Judy Filmore 

Gill Gardner 

Chris Hogg 

John Holmes 

Vicky Hughes 

Janette Jenkinson 

Malcolm Lamb (Vice-Chairman) 

Susanne Long 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 

David Webster 

 
Substitute Members 

Giles Archibald (Substitute) 

Mark Wilson (Substitute) 

 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
Tuesday, 22 November 2022 
 
Julia Krier, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist-Solicitor (Monitoring Officer) 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Committee Services 

 

Telephone: 01539 733333 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES   

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 24 November 2022 (to follow). 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 
(1) Planning Applications 
 
 Planning applications for which requests to speak have been made. 
 
(2) Agenda Items 
 
 Agenda items for which requests to speak have been made. 

 

6  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2021/0495 SANDGATE SCHOOL AT 
QUEEN KATHERINE SCHOOL SITE, APPLEBY ROAD, KENDAL, LA9 6PJ  

5 - 44 

 To consider the extension of Sandgate SEN School; comprising of new 
educational classrooms, multi-purpose hall with pupil facilities, teaching facilities 
and external works. 

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7  PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2022/0858 LAND ADJACENT TO 
KENDAL UNITED FOOTBALL CLUB, CASTLE DRIVE, KENDAL  

45 - 80 

 To consider the creation of a Sports Pitch (Junior Football) on land adjacent to 
Kendal United Football Club.  

 

PART II   

 Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph 
number) 
 

There are no items in this part of the agenda.  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Planning Application no. SL/2021/0495 

Sandgate School at Queen Katherine 

School site, Appleby Road, KENDAL, 

LA9 6PJ 

  

Page 5

Item No.6

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

Contents 

Planning Application no. SL/2021/0495................................................................................. 1 

Sandgate School at Queen Katherine School site, Appleby Road, KENDAL, LA9 6PJ ........ 1 

 4 

Summary ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Recommendation .................................................................................................................. 5 

1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 6 

Site Description ............................................................................................................... 6 

Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 6 

2.0 Consultations .................................................................................................................. 8 

Kendal Town Council ...................................................................................................... 8 

Cumbria County Council Highways/LLFA ....................................................................... 9 

Sport England ............................................................................................................... 10 

United Utilities ............................................................................................................... 10 

Natural England ............................................................................................................ 11 

South Lakeland District Council .................................................................................... 11 

Neighbours/Others ........................................................................................................ 12 

3.0 Relevant planning history .............................................................................................. 18 

4.0 Relevant planning policies ............................................................................................ 19 

South Lakeland Development Plan Management Development Plan Policies (Development 

Management DPD) ....................................................................................................... 19 

Other material considerations ....................................................................................... 20 

5.0 Assessment .................................................................................................................. 20 

Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy ........................................................... 20 

Loss of playing field ...................................................................................................... 21 

Design and Materials .................................................................................................... 23 

Impact on residential amenity ....................................................................................... 25 

Trees, landscaping and biodiversity .............................................................................. 29 

Highway safety.............................................................................................................. 30 

Flood Risk and drainage ............................................................................................... 33 

Page 6



 

3 

6.0 Conclusion .................................................................................................................... 34 

7.0 Recommendation .......................................................................................................... 34 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



 

4 

 

Page 8



 

5 

 

Summary 

SL/2021/0495 

PARISH:  Kendal 

Sandgate School at Queen Katherine School site, Appleby Road, Kendal, LA9 9PJ 

PROPOSAL: Extension of Sandgate SEN school comprising of new educational 

classrooms, multi-purpose hall with pupil facilities, teaching facilities and external works 

APPLICANT: Mr Brian Durham, Cumbria County Council 

Grid Ref: E:  352157  N: 493824  

Committee date: 30 November 2022 

Case Officer:  Nick Howard 

The proposal is for the extension of Sandgate SEN school comprising of new educational 

classrooms, multi-purpose hall with pupil facilities, teaching facilities and external works. 

The current application has been referred to Planning Committee as it is a County Council 

application, which has received public objections and an objection from Sport England.  

The key issues are the effect of the development proposals on residential amenity and the 

loss of playing field.  

This application was included on the agenda for the 16 June 2022 Planning Committee, 

with a recommendation for refusal based upon an unresolved objection from Sport England. 

However, the application was withdrawn from the agenda before being discussed. The 

application is now being presented with updated proposals to address Sport England’s 

concerns.  

Members visited the site on 09 June 2022. 

Recommendation 

If planning application reference SL/2022/0858, considered first on this agenda, is not 

approved then the application is recommended for refusal for the following reason: 

The proposed development is located on an area of playing field as defined by 

the National Planning Policy Framework. In the absence of suitable alternative 

provision to compensate for the loss of this playing field the proposal is 

Page 9



 

6 

contrary to policy LA1.11 of the South Lakeland Land Allocations 

Development Plan Document and paragraph 99 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework.  

of State must be consulted before any decision can be issued]. 

If planning application reference SL/2022/0858, considered first on this agenda, is approved 

then, subject to written confirmation that Sport England has withdrawn its earlier objection, 

the application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions. 

1.0 Description and proposal 

Site Description 

1.1. The site is located approximately 0.5 miles to the north of Kendal town centre and to 

the north of residential properties at Crescent Gardens and Ash Meadow.  The site is 

within the existing Queen Katherine school site, which comprises a number of school 

buildings, access and car parking along the A685 Appleby Road.  Playing fields are 

located to the rear of the school buildings facing the A6 Shap Road and from which 

pedestrian access to the school site is available during school hours. Sandgate SEN 

School is currently accessed through the drama building of Queen Katherine school 

located at the southern boundary 

1.2. Staff parking is located to the front of the site off Appleby Road which is included in 

the site area. A tarmac access road runs roughly parallel with residential properties 

with a small garage and storage buildings located off it. A further car park is located 

to the rear of the building and beyond are playing fields that includes a fairly mature 

oak tree to the north of the proposed new building. 

1.3. The application site is to the southern boundary of the site and includes works to the 

existing access at Appleby Road area together with the existing tarmac access road 

and storage buildings running roughly parallel with the residential properties together 

with the car park to the rear of the building and an area of playing field. 

Proposal 

1.4. The proposal is for the extension of Sandgate Special Education Needs School 

which currently uses part of the Queen Katherine school building and outdoor area at 

the southern part of the site. This is to provide an extension to the school to provide 

new educational classrooms, a multi-purpose hall with pupil facilities and teaching 

facilities and external works which include an extended and altered access, car 

Page 10



 

7 

parking, dropping off and delivery space, car parking and a new replacement storage 

building. The site will be served by the existing access on Appleby Road.  

1.5. The new school building is proposed at the rear of the existing school building on the 

area equating to the existing car park with new car parking and turning space 

proposed on the existing playing field space, again adjacent to the southern 

boundary towards Shap Road which is currently used as outdoor space by children 

attending Sandgate SEN school.   

1.6. The proposal was revised in February 2022 to take account of comments made 

regarding design and amenity issues and the representations made by members of 

the public.  

1.7. The proposal is put forward by Cumbria County Council and information provided 

describes the extension of the existing Sandgate Special Education Needs (SEN) 

School forms part of the County education strategy for which a facility is necessary 

to provide a central school for those with SEN needs between the ages of 3 to 19. 

There is an identified need for additional capacity for Special Educational Needs for 

Sandgate school to increase the overall pupils on roll and for which there is a growth 

in demand in Cumbria.  

1.8. Sandgate is one of two existing SEN schools in the county (the other being located 

at Ulverston) catering for ages 3 to 19 and currently has around 117 students on two 

sites.  Sandgate Sandyland Road School located opposite Queen Katherine School 

site broadly provides nursery, reception and primary education with Sandgate School 

operating within classrooms at the Queen Katherine school site broadly for pupils at 

secondary school level with close connections between the two SEN school sites.   

1.9. Sandgate SEN School has been present on the Queen Katherine’s school site for 

over ten years as the Sandylands Road site became too small to accommodate the 

different age groups and increases in secondary school SEN pupils.  It currently 

occupies a series of existing classrooms towards the southern area of the Queen 

Katherine school site adjacent to the Upper School buildings and drama block. 

1.10. The applicant’s information states that the proposed extension is needed to provide 

space for additional SEN children based on projected needs.  They also state that 

many options have been considered to provide the increased SEN provision required 

including provision within Queen Katherine school buildings but that this process has 

been exhausted and it has been determined that an extension of the existing SEN 

school utilising the existing many specialist staff resources is the only feasible and 

realistic option. Through the location of the SEN school alongside the separate 

Queen Katherine’s Academy school also allows for integration of pupils who, when 

educationally possible, attend lessons and sports in the larger school and formalise 

Page 11



 

8 

the future permanence of the Sandgate SEN school and the leasing arrangements 

for the site.  

1.11. The proposals include: 

 Extension to the existing building to provide four new classrooms, assisted 
pupil and staff changing areas, small group rooms, WC facilities, new 
entrance, reception, staff areas, sensory room, physiotherapy room storage 
rooms and a multi-purpose hall for sports hall and for dining and assembly 
purposes with kitchen/servery facilities;  

 Minor cosmetic upgrade and alteration of existing classrooms and WC 
facilities; 

 Alterations and extension of existing access road including revised sightlines 
with loss of one existing car parking space, new pedestrian footpaths, new 
turning area, dedicated SEN new drop off and pick up area, provision of new 
car park for 40 parking spaces, including disabled spaces, and three minibus 
parking spaces and turning loop to prevent reversing of larger vehicles 
including refuse vehicles; 

 Removal of existing storage containers and outbuildings and construction of 
new storage building to the rear of existing Queen Katherine school building 

 New substation and external bin stores  

 Installation of plant on roof of building 

 Installation of external lighting 

 Fencing around an area of the existing playing field to provide a secure 
grassed play space for pupils 

 Revisions to the proposals also increase the landscape buffer to residential 
properties with a detailed landscaping/management scheme and revised 
design of the sport hall roof  

2.0 Consultations 

Kendal Town Council 

2.1. Comments provided on the original submission were that the Committee welcomed 

the extension of provision that this represents, but added cautionary notes that the 

development should be compliant with current thinking on dark skies, the provision of 

‘swift bricks’, the required contributions to biodiversity, the reports from the 

arboriculture officer and adequate provision for recycling facilities. Assuming there 

were no material adverse comments from neighbours, the Committee had No 

Material Objections. 

Page 12



 

9 

2.2. Further comments to the revised proposals have been received and these state 

there is No Material Objections. However, the committee supports the letters from 

Friends of the Lake District regarding light and Kendal Swifts. The impact of 

increased traffic and evening activities on residents should be seriously addressed in 

any decision. 

Cumbria County Council Highways/LLFA  

2.3. With regard to highways issues, Cumbria Local Highway Authority recommend that 

the proposal can be approved with conditions.  A Transport Assessment has been 

provided which demonstrates that the increase in trips due to the development will 

be slight with no significant effect on the surrounding transport network (a 

reasonable estimate is that 23 additional journeys will take place to the site which will 

be staggered and not all in the peak hour). Most of the increase in student numbers 

are likely to travel in a shared taxi or minibus. Pedestrian access is to be maintained 

from Shap Road. Adequate cycle storage is to be provided and parking is in 

accordance with Cumbria Developer Design Guide standards. 

2.4. The Lead Local Flood Authority response is that they recommend that this proposal 

can be approved with conditions.  A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 

has been provided. Flood risk from all sources is considered to be low. We welcome 

the proposal to drain the development 100% by use of infiltration. However, the 

proposed non pervious surfacing means that infiltration is indirect and requires runoff 

to be piped to the proposed soakaway which is located close to the foundation of the 

new building. The technique employed means a concentration of flow below ground 

which is a concern regarding subsidence. We would seek a more evenly distributed 

proposal such as the use of permeable paving for the majority of any new surfaces. 

This would also negate the need for a petrol interceptor as permeable paving 

provides two stage treatment. The development is required to provide sustainable 

drainage (SuDS). We note that the Flood Risk Assessments states that "the external 

hardstanding areas could incorporate permeable paving" which can "be reassessed 

in more detail at a later stage of the project". We recommend that the development 

can be approved only on condition that permeable paving is incorporated into the 

design to provide the benefits of sustainable drainage. Use of bio-retention planters 

at the base of roof downspouts could also be incorporated into the SuDS design. 

2.5. It is recommended that the proposal is acceptable subject to conditions for details of 

a sustainable drainage system including maintenance are submitted and provided 

and that access, parking and turning areas are substantially completed before 

building work commences so that construction traffic can park and turn off the site 

clear of the highway.   

Page 13



 

10 

Sport England  

2.6. Following an initial objection, Sport England has now updated its position in the light 

of the submission by the applicant of a proposal for a compensatory junior football 

pitch on land adjoining Kendal United Football Club in Castle Drive, registered under 

application SL/2022/0858. Sport England now states: 

The Castle Drive project proposed under planning application ref 

SL/2022/0858 would provide a new area of playing field on land that is not 

currently playing field.  It is understood that the playing field loss at Queen 

Katherine School is considered to be 0.37 hectares, and the Castle Drive 

proposal would provide a replacement area of circa 0.5 hectares.  

Sport England has considered its objection and in principle the Castle Drive 

project could in principle deliver replacement playing field to mitigate for that 

lost at Queen Katherine School for the Sandgate SEN extension were it to be 

approved. In order to be certain that the policy tests can be met the local 

planning authority need: 

 evidence of the quality of the playing field to be lost to understand and 

be certain that the quality of the new playing field at Castle drive meets 

the policy test of equivalent or better; and  

 a legal mechanism to secure the new playing field is created (to an 

acceptable standard) before commencement of this development that 

causes the loss of playing field. 

Once Sport England is content that those points are met, in principle, we 

would be likely to remove our current objection.  Any legal agreements to 

secure delivery would need to be fully signed before Sport England would 

remove its objection. 

United Utilities 

2.7. The consultation response recommends that the development is acceptable subject 

to the submission and approval of a sustainable surface water drainage scheme has 

been submitted and foul drainage is connected to the public sewer.  A copy of the 

letter should also be provided to the applicant. 

Page 14



 

11 

Natural England 

2.8. Comments provided by Natural England are that they support the representation 

made by Kendal Swift Group and advise that swift bricks be incorporated into the 

design to provide a biodiversity enhancement to the proposal.  

2.9. A further consultation was carried out on the revised plans and the response 

reiterates their previous comments and support the advice that swift bricks are 

incorporated into the development to provide biodiversity enhancement of the 

proposal.  

South Lakeland District Council  

Public Protection 

2.10. Environmental Health has no objection in principle to the proposal, however the 

following matters must be considered and suitable conditions attached to any 

approval of the development:  

Unexpected contamination - If during development, any visible contaminated or 
odorous material is found to be present at the site, no further development (unless 
otherwise expressly agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be 
carried out until it has been fully investigated using suitably qualified independent 
consultant(s) and the local authority informed.  
 
Electric Vehicle Charging points - Prior to first use of the development, a scheme for 
the provision of facilities to enable the charging of electric vehicles to serve the 
approved development shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval 
and implementation and retention.   
 
Construction Method Statement – to be submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority with no demolition/construction activities shall take place 
other than from 08:00 hours until 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday) and from 08:00 
hours until 13:00 hours (Saturday) with no noisy work on Sunday or Bank/Public 
Holidays. 
 
Fixed Plant Noise - Prior to the first use of the premises, details of any plant 
(including ventilation, refrigeration and air conditioning) and/or ducting system to be 
used and the method of control of noise and vibration of this plant shall be submitted 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority and carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The scheme shall ensure that the noise and vibration generated at 
the boundary of any noise sensitive property shall not exceed Noise Rating Curve: 
NR35 as defined within Table B.1: Noise Rating Values of BS 8233:2014, and 

Page 15



 

12 

installed and maintained in a condition/operated in compliance to the approved 
scheme so that it does not exceed NR35. 

Specialist – Arboriculture 

2.11. Comments received are that providing the development is carried out in accordance 

with the submitted Arboricultural reports recommendation, the impact of the proposal 

upon the tree should be minimal. A suitable planning condition should be attached if 

the development is approved requiring compliance with the recommendations within 

the Arboricultural report.   

Neighbours/Others  

2.12. Representations were received to the original submission received from 84, 86 

and 92 Shap Rd, 111, 117, 121 and 123 Appleby Road and 5, 6, 7 and 8 Ash 

Meadow. These are summarised below: 

 Proposal is too close to properties and neighbourhood. The development 

does not sit with the character of the residential area and will reduce the 

quality, experience and nature of the outlook to occupants resulting is a 

negative impact on the amenity of properties. Location blurs the lines and 

boundaries between school and residential properties 

 Whilst development is to the north of housing and there cannot be 

overshadowing the scale of development will be overbearing. 

 Open fields allow daylight into rear gardens, windows and conservatories; 

these will be affected by proximity to proposed vehicle access and buildings. 

 Two storey extension will deprive houses of sight, views and air and just 

consists of double heighted corridors. Lighting to ground floor rooms of the 

new building can be obtained by other means. 

 Loss of privacy, space, light, quietness in the area and ability to enjoy rear 

gardens. People parking and students will be able to see directly into rear 

windows, this is a big difference from the current situation as although 

children use the fields they do not play close to the wall, are spread out over 

the field and the school encourage respectful behaviour. Some students 

already look into windows (accepted as a downside of living next to a school) 

but location of car parking and new building will mean there will be a total 

loss of privacy on the north facing side of the ground floor of the house 

 Properties will lose attractiveness and market value as bedrooms will 

overlook directly to brick walls, large mini buses and car parks, vehicles, 

Page 16



 

13 

building entrance, substations and large bins storage and not the fields and 

open spaces. 

 School children pass houses in the morning and afternoon and there are 

sports activities on the field, the new proposal will remove any privacy 

outside of those times. 

 Not necessary to have traffic so close to residential housing and the proposal 

is encouraging more car/vehicle journeys and directing it closer to residential 

properties 

 The use of entrances from Appleby Road, new access, car park and drop off 

area on the southern boundary will become the primary access into the new 

building for teachers and parents. This will be a huge increase in vehicle 

movements right up to the residential properties and gardens and increase in 

fumes and noise pollution including car doors slamming, car audio’s, people 

talking or shouting at each other and lack of privacy. Other areas, including 

on parts of the playing fields should be considered for alternative parking. 

 A review of the traffic plan in front of the school should take place as part of 

the application to consider increasing yellow line and parking restrictions 

including preventing cars parking on the pavements/introduction of bollards 

and safety railings so that pavements are available for children and 

pedestrians and traffic calming measures should be introduced; vehicles 

currently speed along the road 

 The existing car park on the east side of Appleby Road should be made into 

a designated pick up and drop off area with a zebra crossing to relieve the 

issue of staff parking.  Cars should be kept away from children 

 School is being built in the wrong place and is very un-neighbourly. Previous 

plans were in a better location. Application 2016/1170 was to extend 

Sandgate but not implemented. This proposal was set away from the 

boundaries thereby minimizing any impact on surrounding residents. The 

lapsed application should be refreshed thereby minimizing any impact on 

surrounding residential properties and negating the vast majority of any 

possible objections. A comparison should be carried out between the 2016 

application and the current one to justify the need to build so extensively 

along the southern boundary of the school boundary or a new proposal 

located far away from residential properties and which respects privacy and 

quality of life to local residents. 

Page 17



 

14 

 A boundary plan should be established to require a 2.5m high permanent 

boundary between 123 Appleby Road and the school through further 

consultation. The boundary owned by properties on Appleby Road would be 

exposed when bushes are removed and if a road was built there a carelessly 

driven car would generate a risk of impact with private property. The current 

distance between the southern boundary wall and the access road kerbside 

should be maintained to provide an essential space between vehicle 

movements and the current boundary wall. 

 New planting will either be so low as to offer no privacy or so large they will 

block out light from ground floor windows. The boundary wall is low and the 

removal of bushes introduces a privacy issue for both parties. Removal of 

shrubs and bushes on the boundary is detrimental to wildlife and access 

should be moved 1m away so these are retained. 

 All the soft landscaping (adjacent to residential properties) will be lost making 

the area unattractive and all the hard landscaping will be unpleasant and 

overwhelming to residents immediately adjacent this area. 

 Lighting is located close to the backs of houses and bedroom windows 

causing loss of privacy, light pollution and disrupting sleep. 

 Will be less able to open windows due to above and increased pollution. 

Health issues (particularly in children) regarding vehicle pollution are well 

documented and the plans place a road close to the boundary. No 92 Shap 

Road does not have a back garden separating it from the boundary wall. 

Daily quality of life will be negatively affected and could have an impact on 

health and wellbeing as well as on residential properties. 

 Concern about flooding and that increased coverage in tarmac affects water 

drainage and run off and potential damage to property. 

 Location of bin store is right next to garden/houses with potential for vermin, 

smell and noise from use and refuse collection from lorries 

 Substation is located next to garden and house, they are not silent, it will 

affect ability to enjoy private space indoors, outdoors, sleep and concern 

about potential electromagnetic fields. This should be re-sited away from 

residential properties 

 New building should be closer to existing utilities and the resulting gap could 

become future applications for the future. 

 Cumbria education authority own land adjacent to Appleby Road 

Page 18



 

15 

 New car park could be used in future for more buildings 

 Not all residents are aware of the plans due to timeframes given. 

2.13. The revised proposal was publicised and further representations have been received 

from seven1 of the properties that previously made representations.  Additional 

comments to those previously received and summarised above are: 

 The proposed planting may affect a garage wall which forms part of the 

school boundary wall and planting, especially trees, must not affect the 

structural integrity or access for maintenance to their property (111 Appleby 

Road) 

 The school intend to use the site at evenings and weekends which may 

affect children sleeping, ability to open windows and enjoy outside space, 

causing noise, disturbance and loss of privacy  

 Greener transport is being encouraged yet the proposal seems to be 

encouraging more car/vehicle movements, should sit new road/drop off away 

from people’s properties, car park reserved for staff could be provided on the 

area used for car parking on the area on the opposite side of Appleby Road 

and it contrary to the Council’s efforts to promote cycling  

 Appreciate the re-siting of the substation and bin store but still feel these are 

too close to residential properties 

 Queen Katherine school figures show it is at under capacity (by 474 pupils)  

– could it not donate some of its current buildings instead 

 The boundary wall of 92 Shap Road (which forms the boundary to the site) 

requires access for maintenance; will the proposed planting provide privacy 

whilst not obscuring windows and light; protect foundations from roots; who 

will maintain this over the initial 10 year period; if the path were to be dug up 

how can it be ensured there is no damage to their property and believe there 

is a drain in this area  

 Concern that some owners of properties may not have time to review the 

revised plans as several are leased and have received no communication 

form the Council regarding the application 

                                            

1 Five additional letters were reported in June 2022. Since then we have received two more, both are which 
are summarised in the report.. 

Page 19



 

16 

 Increased flood risk if the grassed area is concreted over; in the 2015 floods 

water reached the perimeter of Ash Meadow and removal of the grassed 

area would allow for greater incursion of water; drains on Ash Meadow have 

also been an issue  

 The planting is still a thin strip leaving the new road only a few feet from 

properties with a lot of car, pedestrian and pick up and drop off point activity 

a few feet from the back of houses and will not be diminished by planting and 

cause a loss of privacy.  The soft landscaping will be lost and the hard 

landscaping will be unpleasant and overwhelming for residents immediately 

viewing this area 

 Staff and students will be able to look into the backs of houses, overhear 

conversations and unlikely the planting will form a screen; if it were to 

provide a complete screen it would result in a huge loss of light and hem in 

residents 

 Is a less invasive option to build on the tennis courts opposite the school on 

Appleby Road and the viability of other parking areas has not been 

considered such as at the grassed areas to the front of the school, or 

adjacent the tennis courts  

 Building is two storey and the upper floor directly overlooks bedroom 

windows creating an unacceptable loss of privacy 

 In 14 years there has been no problems with invasion of privacy with children 

spread out over the field; in contrast with the new development there would 

be people frequently being able to view us from inside the new building 

 People leave their vehicle engines idling and a few plants will not mitigate the 

effect and may make it unsafe for children to play in the backyard and may 

have to keep windows shut to prevent petrol fumes coming in with concerns 

on their and their children’s health 

 Impact on wildlife, rabbits, bats, hedgehogs, curlews and oystercatchers 

seen in the area will be disrupted and displaced  

 Loss of daylight to the north facing windows from the large two storey 

extension is a concern and the whole development is unacceptably close to 

an existing residential development 

 Smell and increased vermin from the bin store  

Page 20



 

17 

 Loss of playing field area; children and community groups enjoy playing on 

the field outside of school hours for running clubs and rugby. The 

development will result in a loss of this outdoor space potentially detrimental 

to the health and development of pupils and other community users of the 

field 

 The development will block views from the rear of properties to the fells and 

beautiful views over the open playing fields and unhindered natural daylight 

into the property; one of the main reasons for buying the house 

 The new road is still too close to properties with only about 8 feet separating 

a conservatory from the boundary wall and a further 6 feet to having cars 

passing 

 Envisage hundreds of cars passing daily to the drop off point with minibuses 

and cause even more disturbance and privacy issues 

 Reconsider the size/plans and take the views of residents seriously 

 The revised proposal has brought additional concerns over the extraordinary 

loss of privacy, traffic, noise and now additional light pollution, risk of flood, 

negative impact both mental and physical on human wellbeing, residents, 

adults and children, directly on their properties and surrounding area, to the 

detriment of the environment, loss of playing fields as previously objected to 

not to mention the negative impact on the market value of our properties and 

has only exacerbated the negative impact that it was going to cause. The 

location of the development is not the appropriate one and continues to 

cause extraordinary negative impact on the residents, their lives, properties 

and surrounding area. 

2.14. A further letter was received on 19th July which had been sent to Sport England 

bringing to their attention that the sports field that would be lost had been used for a 

sports day/event on 6th July 2022 and 16 June 2022 (when Kendal Town Council 

was meeting to discuss the application) and it was incorrect for the applicants to 

claim the area had not been used for the last five years.  

2.15. Kendal Swift Group have commented that ten internal swift boxes should be installed 

on the northern elevation and Natural England support their comments. On the 

revised plans comments were received that they are disappointed that there is no 

indication that swift bricks are to be used despite their earlier letter. Swifts are 

present in the area with at least one nesting site at the school and there is an 

opportunity to develop a colony which would also be of interest to the school 

children. Integrated nesting bricks are recommended and present a cheap and easy 

Page 21



 

18 

way to provide permanent biodiversity net gain. Information is also presented about 

the importance of swifts and other ways the development could contribute to 

biodiversity net gain such as wildflower planting areas, hedgerows and ponds. 

2.16. The Campaign for Rural England- Cumbria Association (CPRE) have commented on 

the application. Comments include the importance of protection of the night sky as 

part of the Cumbria Dark Skies Project which includes Kendal. National planning 

policy para. 180 and SLDC policy DM2 support the use of lighting which protects the 

health, living conditions and natural environment from inappropriate external 

lighting/light pollution in development projects.  The applicant approached the Dark 

Skies Officer for informal comments but they have not had sight of any draft plans 

but that plans submitted look broadly acceptable although they have not indicated 

the Kelvin rating or lighting curfews/hours of use. They also support the response of 

Kendal Swifts to the application.  

2.17. With regard to the revised scheme the CPRE state that they are disappointed there 

is no new information relating to lighting. Whilst they welcome the reduced amount of 

lighting they still consider; there is a lack of information regarding the Kelvin levels to 

ensure the lighting is dark sky friendly; that Kelvin levels are reduced and produced 

for all the lighting types proposed with no upward lighting; and hours of use 

recommended not to be between midnight and 6am with the exception of security 

lighting.  They also share the disappointment of Kendal Swifts that no swift bricks are 

included as these would represent appropriate biodiversity net gain and complement 

other developments in the area which have provided these and presents a lost 

opportunity.  

3.0 Relevant planning history 

3.1. There are numerous planning applications relating to Queen Katherine’s school. 

Relevant applications to Sandgate SEN school or near the southern boundary are as 

follows:  

 SL/2016/1170 New Key stage 3 building and new parking area (this included wo 

additional SEN classrooms, new (shared) hall and associated spaces. Approved 

10 March 2017.  The site was some 100m from the existing area used by 

Sandgate SEN school.  This scheme has not gone ahead according to the 

submitted information as it was realised the scheme was too small for the 

projected numbers of Sandgate pupil numbers; the location has also 

reconsidered to reflect operations and to ensure the most efficient use of staff 

resources and provide these on one area. 

Page 22



 

19 

 SL/2016/1170 Non Material amendment for the increase in height of the 

changing room to the SEN facility and parking. Approved 8/12/2017 

 SL/2010/0632 Alterations and extensions Approved 4/11/20 

 SL/2003/2177 Music room suite and 6th form extension and substation 

12/01/2004 

4.0 Relevant planning policies 

South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies (CS) 

CS1.1 Sustainable development principles 

CS2 Kendal Strategy 

CS8.2 Protection and enhancement of landscape and settlement character 

CS8.3a Accessing open space, sport and recreation 

CS8.4b Quantity of open space, sport and recreation 

CS8.4 Bio-diversity and geo-diversity  

CS8.7 Sustainable construction, energy efficiency and renewable energy 

CS8.8 Development and flood risk 

CS8.10 Design 

CS9.1 Social and community infrastructure 

CS10.2 Transport Impact of New Development  

South Lakeland Development Plan Document Policies (DPD) Local 

Plan Land Allocations 

LA1.11 Existing Outdoor Formal Sports Facilities 

South Lakeland Development Plan Management Development Plan 

Policies (Development Management DPD) 

DM1 General Requirements for all development 

DM2 Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

Page 23



 

20 

DM4 Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping 

DM6 Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems 

DM7 Addressing pollution, contamination impact and water quality 

DM9 Parking provision, new and loss of car parks   

 

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework 

Chapter 4: Decision Making  

Chapter 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities 

Chapter 9: Promoting sustainable transport  

Chapter 12: Achieving well designed places 

Chapter 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  

Chapter 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  

Cumbria Development Design Guide 

5.0 Assessment 

Principle of Development and Local Plan Policy 

5.1. The proposed development raises a number of issues for consideration, these are 

set out below and include: 

- Loss of playing field, local and national planning policies 

- Design and materials 

- Impact of residential amenity  

- Trees, Landscaping and Biodiversity 

- Highway Safety 

- Flood Risk and Drainage 

Page 24



 

21 

Loss of playing field 

5.2. The development partly overlaps an area of playing field within the wider school site, 

resulting in the loss of 0.37Ha, (3,700 square metres) of playing surface. This is the 

equivalent of over half a full sized football pitch. The loss of this playing field is a key 

consideration in the determination of this application. 

5.3. The area of the proposed development part of the playing field is designated in the 

South Lakeland local plan as Amenity Open Space and an Outdoor Sports Facility. 

Paragraph 2.73 of the Land Allocations DPD defines designated Amenity Open 

Space as land “which is not accessible to the public but which nonetheless, has 

amenity value because of its openness, appearance or landscape quality”.  

5.4. Paragraph 2.73 defines Outdoor Sports Facilities as “including formal sports pitches, 

golf courses and other formal sports facilities”. Paragraph 2.74 states that “there is a 

presumption that these spaces will not be developed except in very exceptional 

circumstances”. 

5.5. Policy LA1.11 of the Land Allocations DPD states that “the outdoor formal sports 

facilities identified on the policies map will be safeguarded from development unless 

a suitable replacement facility is provided in an accessible location within the same 

area of need or demand”. 

5.6. The Council are due to update the evidence base on outdoor sports facility needs as 

part of the Local Plan Review, including a Playing Pitch Strategy but this has not yet 

been commissioned. 

5.7. Paragraph 99 of the NPPF sates that “existing open space, sports and recreational 

buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or 

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 
benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

 
5.8. The report into this application published for the 16 June 2022 Planning Committee 

explains in detail the position on this issue at that time. In essence, the application 

was being recommended for refusal on the basis of an objection from Sport England 

that the proposed loss of playing field had not been justified in the context of either: 

Page 25



 

22 

(1) Policy LA1.11; (2) paragraph 99 of the NPPF; (3) or Sport England’s own Playing 

Fields Policy.  

5.9. Things have now moved on, with the applicant having lodged a planning application 

for compensatory sports pitch provision on a site adjoining Kendal United Football 

Club in Castle Drive, registered under application SL/2022/0858. That application is 

also on this agenda, recommended for approval.  

5.10. Having reviewed and commented on application SL/2022/0858, Sport England has 

now indicated that it is minded to withdraw its objection to the current application, 

subject to two caveats:   

i. evidence of the quality of the playing field to be lost to understand and be 

certain that the quality of the new playing field at Castle drive meets the policy 

test of equivalent or better; and  

ii. a legal mechanism to secure the new playing field is created (to an acceptable 

standard) before commencement of this development that causes the loss of 

playing field. 

5.11. If application SL/2022/0858 is not approved then Sport England’s objection will stand 

and this application will remain recommended for refusal. However, if application 

SL/2022/0858 is approved, then subject to meeting Sport England’s caveats, this 

application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions.  

5.12. To address the first of Sport England’s caveats, it has recommended that a number 

of conditions be imposed on application SL/2022/0858. The recommendation on the 

planning application incorporates these, guaranteeing that Sport England’s required 

standards will be met. It is also noteworthy that the replacement pitch is 

approximately 0.13 hectares larger, the additional space being necessary to ensure 

that it is capable of use by a range of sports, thereby meeting the definition in the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 

Order 2015 (Sport England’s yardstick).  

5.13. On the second point, it is clearly important that the new pitch, if approved, is 

completed and made available for use in accordance with an agreed timescale. 

Sport England accepts that it would be unreasonable to require the new pitch to 

have been completed before any work at Sandgate School can commence; instead, 

it is suggesting that the new pitch is complete and operational before the new school 

extension is first occupied. The applicant has confirmed that this is achievable.  

5.14. Turning to the legal mechanism necessary to secure this, there are two options: a 

planning obligation; or a condition. The latter should always be first choice, but the 

complication here is that the site of the proposed replacement pitch is not owned by 

Page 26



 

23 

the applicant, it is owned by the District Council. The government’s Planning Practice 

Guidance anticipates circumstances such as this and under the heading “When can 

conditions be used relating to land not in control of the applicant?” offers the 

following advice: 

Conditions requiring works on land that is not controlled by the applicant, or 

that requires the consent or authorisation of another person or body often fail 

the tests of reasonableness and enforceability. It may be possible to achieve a 

similar result using a condition worded in a negative form (a Grampian 

condition) – i.e. prohibiting development authorised by the planning 

permission or other aspects linked to the planning permission (e.g. occupation 

of premises) until a specified action has been taken (such as the provision of 

supporting infrastructure). Such conditions should not be used where there 

are no prospects at all of the action in question being performed within the 

time-limit imposed by the permission. 

5.15. Given that in this case we are considering a proposed arrangement between two 

consenting local authorities (possibly one if the development is not implemented 

before the end of March next year) then it is almost inconceivable that the action 

required to satisfy Sport England’s second caveat would fail, meaning that a 

Grampian condition would be entirely appropriate.  

Design and Materials 

5.16. Core Strategy Policy CS1.1, CS8.10, Development Management DPD Policy DM1 

and DM2, in addition to the revised NPPF all require development to be of a high 

quality that maintains or enhances the quality of the existing character and 

distinctiveness and makes an overall positive contribution to the locality.  

5.17. The proposal is for a large extension to the existing building used by Sandgate SEN 

School along the southern boundary and follows Government requirements for SEN 

pupil room space requirements. The gross external area of the existing Sandgate 

School is 706 square metres. The proposed gross external area of the new 

extension is 1382 square metres. 

5.18. The accompanying Design and Access Statement sets out how the site proposals 

were developed. This includes the operational perspective of extending the existing 

Sandgate SEN school at the southern boundary and onto an area partly used as car 

parking and partly on an area of school playing field. This area would provide a direct 

physical link to the existing Sandgate School and also allow dedicated and secure 

pupil drop off and pick up areas and allow pupils direct and supervised access into 

the school rather than through the building used by Queen Katherine’s School. It is 

Page 27



 

24 

also stated in the Design and Access statement that the proposal minimises the loss 

of existing school sports pitches and takes into account the potential for overlooking 

on the residential properties on the southern boundary together with the choice of 

materials proposed to be used on the building to soften the appearance 

5.19. The revised proposals include changes to the access, car parking and increased 

landscape buffer along the southern boundary and are stated by the applicant’s 

agent to help address residents’ concerns and to lessen some of the potentially 

noisier vehicular activities by positioning these further away from the residential area 

and intended to offer some level of screening and be attractive in nature. 

5.20. The proposed extension varies in height from the single storey element of some 

4.3m with a higher two storey glazed atrium set back from the main walls of 7.2m 

high.  The sports hall building itself uses a sloping roof which towards the southern 

boundary is 9.5m at its highest point and 8.4m at its lowest.  

5.21. The proposed multi-purpose sports hall will provide for indoor sports use and 

includes facilities for badminton, basketball, trampolining (which are part of the SEN 

requirement for rebound therapy) and a climbing wall and require a building of a 

certain height in which to accommodate those sports and needs. The hall will also 

provide dining and assembly purposes and combining this with the sports hall 

reduces the amount of space needed for the school extension. The applicants 

statement also includes that the sports hall provides accessible changing facilities 

and will significantly enhance the existing sports facilities available for disabled 

people in the community.  

5.22. The Design and Access Statement states that the size of the building is not intended 

to be imposing in scale and to not over dominate the adjacent housing. The use of 

projecting canopies and parapets is intended to step up the scale of buildings 

towards the existing residential properties and the ground levels of the dwellings are 

slightly elevated from the level of the playing fields which helps to reduce scale and 

massing.  The use and size of windows on the south elevation are intended to be 

modest and certain windows will be fitted with blinds. 

5.23. The proposed materials are light buff coloured brick to complement the existing 

rendered buildings and slightly metallic finished grey cladding to the sports hall to 

assist in blending the building into the skyline rather than a darker colour in front of a 

brighter sky background and reflect some natural light. The Design and Access 

Statement also includes that the use of grey window frames will also blend with the 

glass and the building to help reduce the overall building scale  

Page 28



 

25 

5.24. The roof finish is in aluminium sheets with rainwater goods in galvanized steel. The 

revised proposals include removal of the previously shown parapet roof to the sorts 

hall building to slightly lower this in height. 

5.25. In addition, a new electricity substation (to ensure capacity) and bin store area are 

proposed and these are now shown re-sited away from residential properties and             

some 25m to the north of 92 Shap Road.  Due to the distance and hours of use of 

the site it is considered the location of the bin store and substation are acceptable 

and would not adversely affect residential amenity. 

5.26. A single storey storage building in cladding to replace existing garage and sheds 

used to store grounds maintenance, school and sports equipment is proposed to the 

rear of the main Queen Katherine School art block buildings to the north of the 

proposed new school extension. This is considered acceptable and has no effect on 

residential properties. 

5.27. The proposed design, location, height and materials are therefore considered 

acceptable and in line with local and national planning policies subject to conditions 

requiring prior approval of the materials including hard surfaced areas.    

Impact on residential amenity 

5.28. DMDPD policy DM1 requires that all development ensures the delivery of acceptable 

levels of amenity, privacy and overshadowing for existing, neighbouring and future 

users and occupants. Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires that developments should 

create a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.  

5.29. Residential properties, including properties at Ash Meadows, Shap Road and 

Appleby Road are located on the southern boundary of the school and the proposed 

development which adjacent to the boundary proposed an altered and extended 

access road leading to the new car parking, turning area with the new school 

buildings located behind the access road.  

5.30. One property, 92 Shap Road has its rear back wall and windows directly onto the 

boundary with what are currently the playing fields.  Several properties also have 

gardens and rear extensions towards the boundary with the school site which is 

delineated by a stone boundary wall. Currently the area directly to the rear of 

residential properties is used for outdoor play area by children and car parking with 

part of the site already being in use for access and car parking. Removal of a 

storage building on the boundary near the existing access will also open up more of 

the rear area of a residential property directly onto the school site and the revised 

access.   

Page 29



 

26 

5.31. The primary concerns from the public representations relate to the amenity of the 

dwellings along the southern boundary of the site. The issues raised include a lack of 

privacy from the proposed buildings and from users of the proposed road, noise and 

pollution from the additional traffic of the proposed road and parking area, 

overshadowing from the proposed buildings and the proposed buildings being 

overbearing due to their size and proximity. Many of the public representations 

request that the proposal reflect the previously approved scheme further north into 

the site; this latter aspect is included in the assessment at para.5.7 above. 

5.32. The nearest property, 92 Shap Road, would be some 2.2 m away from the nearest 

proposed car parking spaces and 14 Ash Meadows some 12m from car parking 

spaces at the front of the site to the southern boundary.  The property at 92 Shap 

Road would be some 16.2m from the main car parking spaces.  A landscaping strip 

is proposed of between 2.4m (adjacent 123 Appleby Road) and 8.6m depth adjacent 

92 Shap Road is proposed which has windows directly on the boundary.   

5.33. The proposed extension varies in height from the single storey element of some 

4.3m with a higher two storey glazed atrium set back by some 4.5m from the main 

walls and 7.2m high.  The sports hall building itself uses a sloping roof which towards 

the southern boundary is 9.5m at its highest point and 8.4m at its lowest. By way of 

example a traditional two storey house is about 7 to 8m high.  

5.34. The single storey part of the extension is some 22m away from the nearest 

residential property with the highest part of the sports hall building being 24.8m away 

from 5 Ash Meadows and the corner being some 19m away from 92 Shap Road. 

5.35. With regard to 92 Shap Road this has secondary windows directly facing into the 

school playing field. The proposed bin store and electricity sub-station have now 

been relocated and are some 21m away from the rear of the dwelling. No fencing or 

screening of the windows could take place on the boundary without blocking the 

ground floor windows to this property.   

5.36. With regard to the potential for overshadowing, the housing is situated to the south 

and any new overshadowing is not anticipated. Sun path diagrams have been 

submitted with the application and demonstrate that due to the location of the 

development to the north of the residential properties there would be no adverse 

overshadowing to the existing houses and gardens.  

5.37. Several residential properties have overlooked the school playing fields and the 

extension represents a significant change for their outlook and views through the 

extension of built development towards Shap Road. In terms of the impact of the 

buildings on residential amenity it is considered that the separation distances 

Page 30



 

27 

proposed between the new school buildings and residential development are 

acceptable and comply with the requirements of local plan policies.    

5.38. The design of the building uses is cotemporary in nature and materials are proposed 

to blend this with the existing school building and use light coloured cladding on the 

sports building to prevent this looking over dominant when viewed from residential 

properties and from more open view along Shap Road into the school site.   

5.39. With regard to the issues raised through the public comments received regarding 

noise, pollution and disturbance including the proposed road and parking area and 

increase in traffic, the applicant’s agent states that it is not envisaged there will be a 

substantial increase in the volume of traffic and will be limited to the same school 

hours, e.g. 7.30am to 9am and 4pm to 6pm.  Automatic gates are proposed which 

will deter other road users from accessing the site and for safeguarding reasons.    

5.40. The school state they require some scope for weekend use for inter-school activities 

and evening use for parents evenings and school events but ordinarily do not require 

wider use of the school premises for wider community use or financial reasons.  

5.41. A letter received from the applicant’s agent (dated 22nd February 2022) states that  

 Core teaching hours are between 8.45am and 3.15 pm  

 Most activity around the school is between 8 to 9 am and from 3.15 to 5pm 

Monday to Friday    

 The school requires unrestricted access between the hours of 7am and 8pm 

Monday to Friday all year round 

 Exceptionally there may be up to 10 weekend inter- school events on either 

Saturdays or Sundays between the hours of 8.30am and 4.30pm 

 Exceptionally there may be up to 15 evening school events (parents evenings, 

school theatrical productions) between the hours of 4.30pm and 9.30pm. 

5.42. Part of the boundary towards Shap Road is used by pupils accessing the Queen 

Katherine school site during opening hours and traffic can already access the site 

along part of the southern boundary to the existing school car park. Part of the 

proposed site is also used by pupils for outdoor play area. The proposed building 

however does bring built development further into the site at the rear of residential 

properties and access/parking areas on to land that is currently open field behind 

existing properties.  

5.43. The development proposals will involve more traffic using the access and extending 

this along the southern boundary and which is envisaged to be used mainly during 

Page 31



 

28 

morning arrival and afternoon to early evening departures. Whilst some evening and 

weekend use is required to allow for school activities, it is considered that this can be 

dealt with by a condition to limit the hours of use of the Sandgate school site and can 

be subject to agreement with the school. The hours of 7.00am to 8pm Monday to 

Friday, except for up to 15 evening school events by each academic year to be 

permitted up to 9.30pm and for up to 10 school events each academic year 8.30 am 

to 4.30pm Saturday and Sundays and no time on bank holidays are suggested in 

line with the information submitted to recognise the arrival and departure times of 

staff and allow the out of hours use for use only by Sandgate SEN school for the 

avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity. 

5.44. An area of land adjacent the boundary to the west of 92 Shap Road is proposed for 5 

car parking spaces. Whilst this is orientated away from residential windows if it close 

to the boundary and landscaping is minimal to the rear of the area.  It is considered 

that the addition of fencing may help to mitigate for any noise and glare from 

headlights in this area and a condition is recommended for boundary treatment and 

/or means of screening and this is further examined in paragraph 5.84 below. A 

further alternative would be to use a condition to remove this area of car parking with 

a subsequent reduction in the numbers of car parking space but which may assist in 

striking a balance between the parking needs of the school and residential amenity.  

5.45. External lighting will be necessary in the interests of health and safety during hours 

of use. A detailed lighting plan is submitted with the application that showed the use 

of low level lighting and prevention of upward glow.  A lighting statement has also 

been received (latter dated 22nd February 2022) which states: 

 Generally lighting when switched on will be set to 10% of maximum 

illuminance, temporarily increased to 100% total illuminance when proximity 

sensors linked to each lamp detects pedestrian or vehicle movement. 

 Lighting will be linked via a daylight sensor and set to switch on and off to suit 

the times of darkness as it changes through the year. 

 Lighting will be timed to switch on no earlier than 7.30am and to switch off no 

later than 8pm Monday to Friday and generally off during weekends unless 

there is an exceptional school event. 

 During and exceptional school event the timing for external lighting will be 

temporarily changed to suit the opening time requirements of the event.  

5.46. The submitted lighting scheme shows a number of lighting columns around the 

perimeter of the school site and the access road and bulkhead lights to the school 

building.  Lux plots have been provided showing the lighting spill and luminance at 

Page 32



 

29 

both 10% and full power. These do however seem to illustrate some illumination of 

part of the rear of the gardens to some properties and the use of lighting columns 

and further consideration of a lighting scheme is required. 

5.47. In terms of local and national planning policies, and the representations made 

including the need to protect dark skies and residential properties from excessive or 

inappropriate lighting, it is recommended that the submitted external lighting scheme 

should be subject to a condition requiring a further lighting scheme that is 

appropriate to the area and residential amenity.   

5.48. Subject to conditions to deal with the matters raised above and to ensure evening 

and weekend activities are not excessive in their frequency and/or duration the 

proposal is considered acceptable.   

Trees, landscaping and biodiversity 

5.49. Policy DM4 of the Development Management DPD and para 131 of the NPPF 

requires that new development should protect and enhance existing trees unless 

there are clear reasons why their removal would aid delivery of a better development 

overall, and that biodiversity of sites are retained and enhanced.  

5.50. The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 170 (d) requires that proposals 

minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity this is echoed through 

Local Plan Policies DM1 and DM4 of the Development Management Policies.  

Development Plan Document which require that unless it can be demonstrated that 

this is not possible, all development proposals should result in net gains for 

biodiversity. The Environment Act 2021 became enshrined in law on the 9 November 

which makes a legal requirement for all development to achieve biodiversity net gain 

5.51. There is a single oak at the north/rear of the site between the proposed development 

and the retained multi use games area court.  This tree is retained but forms a 

constraint to further development taking place in this area.  

5.52. The submitted arboricultural report states that Oak tree is a “specimen of good 

shape and form with no structural defects. Roots coming to surface at base of the 

main stem. Specimen in good health and physiological condition forking to two stems 

at 3 metres with even crown spread” and recommends root protection measures 

including protective fencing during construction together with crown pruning.  

5.53. A new landscaping area is proposed between the extended access to the southern 

boundary and the adjacent residential properties.  This has been revised to provide a 

larger area of landscaping than originally put forward to allow more space for 

planting to provide a buffer strip.  

Page 33



 

30 

5.54. The landscape area runs parallel to the existing boundary wall at the southern 

boundary and provides an area of between 2.4m and 8.4m and sets back the 

pedestrian footpath away from residential properties.  An area of landscaped 

planting is shown to the rear of 92 Shap Road of some 7m depth which has windows 

directly on the boundary.    

5.55. The proposed landscaping scheme shows a number of shrub and tree species to 

form screening along the boundary and to assist in prevention of headlight glare from 

vehicles during winter months directly shining into rear gardens and windows whilst 

separating the pedestrian and vehicular access form the residential properties. 

5.56. More appropriate boundary treatment would be the use of a screen or acoustic fence 

however it is considered that this would be over dominant on the rear boundaries of 

the dwellings and therefore the compromise of the boundary planting is considered 

to be acceptable subject to conditions to ensure it’s implementation and 

management.  A further alternative would be, via a planning condition, to require a 

small screen fence to the front of the landscape areas but which would still allow 

maintenance. 

5.57. Several representations have raised the issue that internal swift bricks should be 

installed on the building through which to increase biodiversity net gains.  These are 

indicated on the building but to ensure the location and numbers of these a condition 

would be recommended and also to obtain further biodiversity net gains through 

further additional bat/bird boxes.   

5.58. Conditions can be imposed on a planning permission relating to the submitted 

landscaping scheme, management plan, and construction works and protection 

measures around the Oak tree on the north edge of the application site and to obtain 

biodiversity net gains.  

Highway safety  

5.59. The proposals include extension of the existing access road on the southern 

boundary to serve a new dedicated access into the Sandgate SEN School site and 

the proposed new dedicated and secure parking area, pupil drop off and pick up 

area, including use by minibus/school transport/taxi which is predominantly used by 

pupils.  

5.60. The NPPF requires that (para 104) that development proposals should make parking 

and other transport considerations an integral part of the design of schemes, and 

contribute to high quality places, safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved 

by all users (para 110b), minimise the scope of conflicts between road/pavement 

Page 34



 

31 

users, is responsive to local character and design, and enables electrical vehicle 

charging points in safe and accessible locations (para 112 c and d).  

5.61. Policy DM1 of the Development Management DPD requires that development 

proposals must ensure adequate and safe movement of pedestrians, cyclists and 

motor vehicles.  

5.62. Policy CS10.2 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy requires development to create 

safe access to the highways network 

5.63. The application is accompanied by a Transport Statement. This considers the local 

and national planning policies relating to transport, current accident record in the 

area and concludes there is no underlying trends in contributory factors or inherent 

road design problems that would appear to affect overall road safety.  The Transport 

Statement considers the mode share profile of existing and proposed staff, with 40 

staff currently working at the school and this is not expected to increase despite the 

proposed increase in pupil numbers. It considers proposed student numbers and 

how students arrive on site from a wide catchment area (approx.270 square miles) 

predominantly by taxi and mini bus with existing arrangements leading to taxis 

queuing within the site.  

5.64. The existing student transport modes are provided in the Transport Statement which 

provides the following information:  

 

Page 35



 

32 

 

5.65. A new car park is provided which meets the requirement of Cumbria car parking 

standards for special schools. 

5.66. The Transport Statement concludes that the school campus is located close to 

sustainable modes of transport offering a choice of travel modes for staff and visitors 

and it is not expected the development proposals would materially affect the overall 

operation of the highway network. 

5.67. The Local Highway Authority comments are that the development is acceptable.  

The submitted Transport Assessment which demonstrates that the increase in trips 

due to the development will be slight with no significant effect on the surrounding 

transport network (a reasonable estimate is that 23 additional journeys will take 

place to the site which will be staggered and not all in the peak hour). Most of the 

increase in student numbers are likely to travel in a shared taxi or minibus. 

Pedestrian access is to be maintained from Shap Road. Adequate cycle storage is to 

be provided and parking is in accordance with Cumbria Developer Design Guide 

standards. 

5.68. The school wish to have a turning circle rather than turning head so that refuse and 

other vehicles do not have to reverse to ensure the safety of children and to provide 

drop-off space as due to the nature of the school, many of the pupils arrive by mini-

bus from a wide catchment. The Highway Authority recommend a planning condition 

to secure substantive access, parking and turning facilities before construction on 

the main works commences for use by construction traffic in the interests of highway 

safety.   

5.69. The applicant’s agent has raised the possibility of the creation of a temporary access 

from Appleby Road for construction vehicles so that the main entrance and egress to 

the two schools are safely maintained.  This could further be considered through 

submission of details as part of a Construction Management Plan imposed as a 

planning condition and would need to be agreed with Cumbria County Council 

Highways. 

5.70. Public representations received are concerned about the impact on residential 

amenity, noise, pollution from the proposed development, extended access, parking 

and hours of use as well as to existing traffic and highway issues which already exist 

and will be exacerbated by the additional development.  

Page 36



 

33 

5.71. In respect of highway issues, the development proposals include an extended 

access with dedicated parking and turning facilities to ensure that Sandgate school 

operates safely for existing highway users and for the safety of pupils entering the 

site. The proposed development has been assessed as complying with highway 

requirements including that adequate car parking facilities are provided based on the 

size of the extension and pupil transport arrangements.  

5.72. The development proposal in respect of highway matters is considered to meet the 

requirements of local planning policies and to accord with paragraph 111 of the 

NPPF which states that; “development should only be prevented or refused on 

highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, or 

the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”  

5.73. In terms of effect of the proposed development on highway safety the proposal is 

therefore considered to meet the requirements of national and local planning policies 

and would be acceptable subject to planning conditions requiring implementation 

with the approved plans, construction management plan and hours of use. 

Flood Risk and drainage 

5.74. Policy DM6 of the DMDPD requires all development to include measures to control 

surface water drainage following the drainage hierarchy to ensure a reduce 

discharge elsewhere.  

5.75. A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy has been submitted together with 

percolation tests. The majority of the site is identified as being within flood risk zone 

1 (low risk) but with parts of the car park and vehicle turning area within flood risk 

zone 2 (medium risk) with potential depths of 0.03 and 0.05m (and therefore stated 

to be relatively shallow). The site is also identified at being at risk from groundwater 

with groundwater flooding considered to be as a result of low level ground levels. No 

risk of sewer flooding has been identified.  The overall risks of flooding to the site are 

classed in the submitted report as low with the drainage strategy and floor levels 

mitigate against remaining flood risk including an allowance for climate change. 

5.76. The Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy has report recommends 

attenuation of surface water run off to greenfield rates and following the surface 

water drainage hierarchy which identifies that surface water infiltration is suitable on 

the site with underground attenuated storage and infiltration/separation devices. On 

site open water storage through swales or open ponds are not considered suitable 

due to the constrained and open nature of the site. Permeable paving is considered 

suitable for the site and is proposed. Foul drainage is proposed to connect to the 

existing foul sewer in the vicinity.  

Page 37



 

34 

5.77. LLFA comments are that the proposals to drain the development 100% by means of 

infiltration is welcome but that the proposals should more evenly include the use of 

permeable paving and bio-retention planters at the base of roof downspouts. Full 

details of the sustainable drainage system, implementation and management prior to 

the commencement of the development must be included as a planning condition. 

United Utilities also request a condition requiring submission of these details.  

5.78. Having regard to the nature of the proposals, comments from local residents and the 

comments from the LLFA and United Utilities is it considered that the proposal would 

meet the requirements of local planning policies subject to conditions.  

6.0 Conclusion 

6.1       To the extent that development plan policies are material to an application for 

planning permission the decision must be taken in accordance with the 

development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise2. 

In this case, provided the applicant’s proposals for compensatory playing field 

provision are accepted, then, following a detailed assessment of the proposal in the 

light of consultation responses and comments from adjoining residents, the 

proposal is judged to accord with relevant policies of the development plan and the 

application is recommended for approval.  

7.0 Recommendation 

7.1. If planning application reference  SL/2022/0858, considered first on this agenda, is 

not approved then the application is recommended for refusal for the following 

reason: 

The proposed development is located on an area of playing field as defined by 

the National Planning Policy Framework. In the absence of suitable alternative 

provision to compensate for the loss of this playing field the proposal is 

contrary to policy LA1.11 of the South Lakeland Land Allocations 

Development Plan Document and paragraph 99 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework.  

[Note: If this becomes the operable recommendation and Members are 

minded to approve the application in the face of a continuing objection from 

Sport England then (in accordance with The Town and Country Planning 

                                            

2 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 

Page 38



 

35 

(Consultation) (England) Direction 2021) the Secretary of State must be 

consulted before any decision can be issued]. 

7.2. If planning application reference SL/2022/0858, considered first on this agenda, is 

approved then, subject to written confirmation that Sport England has withdrawn its 

earlier objection, the application is recommended for approval, subject to the  

following conditions: 

Condition (1): The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three 
years from the date of this decision. 

Reason:         To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
Condition (2):   The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the following approved plans and documents:  

- Location plan 20047-PL01 

- Proposed site plan 20057-PL07 Rev C Plan 1 of 2 

- Proposed site plan 20057-PL08 Rev C Plan 2 of 2 

- Elevations as proposed 20057-PL13 Rev A 

- Elevations as proposed 20057-PL14 Rev A 

- Proposed site sections 20057-PL18  

- Landscape Plan WW/L01A Sheet 1 of 2 

- Landscape Plan WW/L01A Sheet 2 of 2 

- Westwood Landscape - Landscape Maintenance and 
Management Plan dated 28.01.22 

- Westwood Landscape - Landscape Management Scheduled 
Tasks sheet dated 21.01.22 

- Westwood Landscape – Landscape Implementation Programme 
dated 27.01.22 

Reason:         For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

Condition (3):    No superstructure shall be erected until samples and details of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the development hereby approved have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

Page 39



 

36 

details of materials unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:         To ensure the development is of a high quality design in 
accordance with Policy DM2 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and Policy CS8.10 of the 
South Lakeland Core Strategy.  

 
Condition (4):   The use of the site shall not take place other than between the 

following: 

7.30am to 8pm Monday to Friday, except for up to 15 evening 
school events in each academic year to be permitted between 8.30 
am to 9.30pm Monday to Friday, and for up to 10 school events 
each academic year 8.30 am to 4.30pm Saturday and Sundays with 
no use of the site at any time on bank holidays and for use only by 
Sandgate SEN school.  

Reason:         To safeguard the amenity of the neighbouring residents in 
accordance with Policies DM1 and DM2 of the Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document and National 
Planning Policy Framework Chapter 12, Achieving well-designed 
places - para 130. 

 

 

Condition (5):   No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, 
until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Statement 
shall provide for:-  

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development;  

iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where 
appropriate;  

v. wheel washing facilities;  

vi. measures to control silt / soil run off; 

vii. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction;  

Page 40



 

37 

viii. a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from 
demolition and construction works; and  

ix. measures to control noise and vibration.  

Thereafter, the approved Construction Method Statement shall be 
adhered to throughout the construction period.  

Reason:  These details are required to be approved before the 
commencement of development to safeguard the amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy DM7 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

 

Condition (6):   No demolition/construction activities shall take place other than 
from 08:00 hours until 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday) and from 
08:00 hours until 13:00 hours (Saturday) with no noisy work on 
Sunday or Bank/Public Holidays. In addition to these hours of 
working, the Local Planning Authority may approve in writing a 
schedule of activities where it is necessary to conduct works 
outside the hours specified in this condition. 

 Reason:  To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in accordance 
with Policy DM7 Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document. 

 
Condition (7):   Full details of a sustainable drainage system which incorporates 

permeable paving as far as practicable, and a maintenance 
schedule (identifying the responsible parties) shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to any drainage 
works being undertaken. A design must be provided to show that 
flows resulting from rainfall in excess of the design event are 
managed in exceedance routes that minimise the risks to people 
and property. Any approved works shall be implemented prior to the 
development being completed and shall be maintained thereafter in 
accordance with the schedule.  

Reason:  To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and 
to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. To ensure the surface 
water system continues to function as designed and that flood risk 
is not increased within the site or elsewhere.  

 

Condition  (8):  The access and parking/turning requirements shall be substantially 
met before any building work commences on site so that 
constructional traffic can park and turn clear of the highway.  

Page 41



 

38 

Reason:  The carrying out of this development without the provision of these 
facilities during the construction work is likely to lead to 
inconvenience and danger to road users. 

 
Condition (9):    Before any part of the development is first brought into use the 

southern boundary of the site shall be provided with means of 
screening / enclosure in accordance with a specification that shall 
first have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. The specification shall include the positions, 
height, design, materials and type of screening / enclosure to be 
provided.  

Reason:         These details are required to be approved before the development 
here by approved is first brought into use to safeguard and enhance 
the character of the area and secure high quality landscaping in 
accordance with Policies DM2 and DM4 of the Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

 

Condition (10):  All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  The works shall be carried 
out before any part of the development is occupied or in 
accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority prior to any development commencing.  Any 
trees / shrubs which are removed, die, become severely damaged 
or diseased within five years of their planting shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar size and 
species to those originally required to be planted unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

Reason:         To safeguard and enhance the character of the area and secure 
high quality landscaping in accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 and 
DM4 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document. 

 

Condition (11):  Before any part of the development is first brought into use, a 
scheme which specifies the provisions to be made for the control of 
noise emanating from any plant, machinery, odour control or 
ventilation equipment shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme, shall be 
implemented before any part of the development is first brought into 
use and retained as approved thereafter. 

Reason:         These details are required to be approved before the 

Page 42



 

39 

commencement of development to safeguard the amenity of future 
occupiers of the site in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM7 of 
the Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document 

 
Condition (12):    In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 

out the approved development that was not previously identified it 
must be reported in writing within 14 days to the Local Planning 
Authority and once the Local Planning Authority has identified the 
part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination, 
development must be halted on that part of the site.  

Reason:         To prevent harm to human health and the environment in 
accordance with Policies DM1 and DM7 of the Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

 

Condition (13):   All external lighting shall be provided in accordance with a 
specification that shall first have been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the local planning authority. The specification shall 
include full details of the location, design, luminance levels, light 
spillage and hours of use of all external lighting within the site.   

Reason:         To safeguard and enhance the character of the area and to 
minimise light pollution in accordance with Policy DM2 of the 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

 

Condition (14):  The development shall not proceed except in accordance with the 
strategy described in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment report 
prepared by Cumbria Tree Surveys dated February 2021. 

Reason:        For the avoidance of doubt and to prevent harm to protected trees 
in accordance with Policy DM4 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and Policies CS8.1 and 
CS8.2 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and the application of 
BS5837 (British Standard for Trees in relation to the design, 
demolition or construction phase of a development) or any 
subsequent updates or amendments of that British Standard. 

 
Condition (15):   Prior to the commencement of development, details of the 

biodiversity net gain measures to be provided on site, including 
measures of the type, number and location of swift bricks, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the development shall be carried out as approved and 

Page 43



 

40 

retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development, replaced on 
a like-for-like basis as necessary.     

Reason:  To ensure a biodiversity net gain in accordance with Policies DM1 
and DM4 of the Development Management Policies Development 
Plan Document. 

 

Condition (16)  Prior to first use of the development, a scheme for the provision of 
facilities to enable the charging of electric vehicles to serve the 
approved development shall be submitted to the local planning 
authority for approval and thereafter implemented in accordance 
with the approved details and the charge points shall thereafter be 
retained and maintained in good working condition.  

Reason:  New petrol and diesel cars/vans will not be sold beyond 2030, and 
to mitigate against any potential adverse impact of the development 
on local air quality. 

Condition (17): The extension hereby approved shall not be first brought into use 
until the junior football pitch approved under planning application 
reference SL/2022/0858 has been constructed and made 
operational in full compliance with the conditions attached to that 
consent. 

Reason: To ensure that the loss of the playing field resulting from this 
development is replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms 
of quantity and quality in a suitable location in accordance with 
Policy LA1.11 of the South Lakeland Land Allocations Development 
Plan Document and paragraph 99 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



 

www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

Planning Application no. SL/2022/0858 

Land adjacent to Kendal United 

Football Club, Castle Drive, KENDAL  

Page 45

Item No.7

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


 

2 

Contents 

Planning Application no. SL/2022/0858................................................................................. 1 

Summary ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Recommendation .................................................................................................................. 5 

1.0 Description and proposal ................................................................................................ 5 

Site Description ............................................................................................................... 5 

Proposal .......................................................................................................................... 6 

2.0 Consultatons ................................................................................................................... 7 

Kendal Town Council ...................................................................................................... 7 

Cumbria County Council ................................................................................................. 7 

United Utilities ................................................................................................................. 8 

Historic England .............................................................................................................. 8 

Sport England ................................................................................................................. 8 

Natural England .............................................................................................................. 8 

South Lakeland District Council ...................................................................................... 8 

Conservation Officer ....................................................................................................... 8 

Estates ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Public Protection ............................................................................................................. 9 

Specialist – Arboriculture ................................................................................................ 9 

Neighbours/Others ........................................................................................................ 10 

3.0 Relevant planning history .............................................................................................. 11 

4.0 Relevant planning policies ............................................................................................ 11 

South Lakeland Core Strategy ...................................................................................... 11 

South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan Document .................................. 11 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan Document 

(DMDPD) ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Other material considerations ....................................................................................... 12 

5.0 Assesment .................................................................................................................... 12 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development ................................................ 12 

Principle of Development .............................................................................................. 13 

Sports provision ............................................................................................................ 13 

Loss of open space ....................................................................................................... 15 

Impact on trees .............................................................................. 17 

Page 46



 

3 

Character of the area (including impact on heritage assets) ......................................... 18 

Access and parking ....................................................................................................... 23 

Public rights of way ....................................................................................................... 25 

Living conditions ........................................................................................................... 25 

Flood risk ...................................................................................................................... 26 

Biodiversity ................................................................................................................... 27 

Conclusion .................................................................................................................... 29 

6.0 Recommendation .......................................................................................................... 30 

 

Page 47



 

4 

 

  

Page 48



 

5 

Summary 

SL/2022/0858 

PARISH: Kendal   

Land adjacent to Kendal United Football Club, Castle Drive, KENDAL LA9 7BN  

PROPOSAL: Creation of Sports Pitch (Junior Football) on land adjacent to Kendal United 

Football Club 

APPLICANT: Cumbria County Council 

Grid Ref: E: 352505 N: 492472 

Committee date: 30 November 2022 

Case Officer: Nick Howard 

Summary 

This application proposes a new junior football pitch on land owned by South Lakeland 

District Council. It is intended to provide replacement playing field capacity to mitigate a 

proposed loss at Queen Katherine School, Appleby Road, arising from concurrent 

proposals by Cumbria County Council to extend the Sandgate Special Educational Needs 

School facilities, currently being considered under application reference SL/2021/0495. The 

new pitch adjoins, and would be run in conjunction with, Kendal United Football Club.  

The application has generated considerable local concern, focused principally on parking 

congestion, loss of public access and damage to the character of Castle Hill. Having sought 

input from key statutory consultees and having assessed the relevant planning 

considerations against the development plan and other material considerations, it is 

recommended that planning permission is granted subject to conditions. 

Recommendation 

The recommendation is to approve subject to conditions. 

1.0 Description and proposal 

Site Description 

1.1. The application site adjoins Kendal United Football Club and extends to an area of 

0.6 hectares, encompassing public open space at the base of Castle Hill together 

with a small car park to the east, accessed from Castle Drive. Castle Hill is a public 

park surrounding Kendal Castle, a scheduled monument. The monument includes 

the 13th century Kendal Castle, together with the late 12th century ringwork upon 

Page 49



 

6 

which it was constructed, and a group of associated earthworks to the north. It is 

strategically situated on the summit of a large glacial moraine in the Kent valley 

overlooking the town of Kendal.  

1.2. The car park is used by members of the public accessing Castle Hill and Kendal 

Castle. It is also used by the Football Club, whose clubhouse and existing playing 

fields are located immediately to the south. A significant line of trees marks the 

boundary between Castle Hill and established built development to the east. Public 

footpaths FP 536055 and FP 5360576 run along part of this boundary, passing 

through the application site at the pedestrian entrance to Castle Hill. 

1.3. The application site sits within the defined development boundary for Kendal and, 

apart from the car park, is completely contained within Kendal Conservation Area. 

The site is within Flood Zone 1.  

1.4. The site is owned by South Lakeland District Council.  

Proposal 

1.5. The proposal is to construct a new 7-a-side Junior level football pitch for children 

under 9/10 years of age. The application documentation tells us that: 

The new facility will be located directly adjacent to the existing Kendal United 

Football Club and will be for their use as part of their commitment to offer 

expanded facilities for junior level football for both girls and boys. 

1.6. It is also explicit in the application that the proposal is intended to provide 

replacement playing field capacity to mitigate a proposed loss at Queen Katherine 

School, Appleby Road, arising from concurrent proposals by Cumbria County 

Council to extend the Sandgate Special Educational Needs School facilities, 

currently being considered under application reference SL/2021/0495.  

1.7. The site for the proposed playing pitch is on an uneven area of ground immediately 

adjoining the eastern boundary of Castle Hill. A significant part of the site is 

relatively flat and is regularly mown. This area also features a pair of junior goal 

posts site, albeit not installed to any recognised standards. The south-western side 

of the application site rises sharply towards Kendal Castle. This area is rough 

grassland, interspersed with self-seeded trees and bushes. A level playing pitch 

measuring 55m x 37m (plus an additional 3m runoff all round) is to be constructed 

via a cut-and-fill engineering operation, mainly involving the removal of material 

from the south-west corner and redistributing it along the south-eastern boundary. 

The cut in the south-west corner will be finished as a bank, set an angle of 1 in 2. A 

soakaway measuring 20m x 12m x 0.8m is proposed to the south of the pitch. This 

will be partly cut into higher ground, which is to be reinstated once the soakaway 

has been installed. 

Page 50



 

7 

1.8. No artificial lighting is proposed and there are currently no proposals to fence off the 

pitch. An existing bench in the south-east corner of the development site is 

unaffected by the proposals.  

2.0 Consultatons 

Kendal Town Council  

2.1. Comments as follows: 

26 October 2022 

Material Objections on the grounds of neighbour objections, additional parking 

and traffic issues (any resubmission would need to provide additional parking 

for residents, visitors, players and walkers), destruction of trees (an 

arboricultural report is required on the effect of cutting down of trees and how 

this would affect net biodiversity gain) and the visual amenity of the Castle. 

The Committee also objects to any potential moving of the current footpath 

through the site. This application is not sympathetic to the retention of the 

amenity of the area or the ability of residents to be able to walk in the local 

area in line with local council policy. 

Cumbria County Council  

Local highway authority 

2.2. Comments as follows: 

18 November 2022 

I can confirm that the Local Highway Authority (LHA) have no objection to the 

proposal subject to a commitment from Cumbria County Council and South 

Lakeland District Council to work collaboratively with stakeholders (including 

Kendal United Football Club and local residents) to deliver additional off-street 

parking capacity in the immediate vicinity of Kendal United Football Club. 

Ideally, this additional parking should be sized to be at least double the 

existing capacity. 

Leadl local flood authority 

2.3. Comments as follows: 

18 November 2022 

Soakaway proposals are satisfactory and we welcome additional testing to 

ensure soakaway is efficient in disposing of the groundwater and pitch 

drainage 

Page 51



 

8 

Historic Environment Officer 

2.4. Comments as follows: 

06 October 2022 

I have no objections and I do not wish to make any recommendations. 

Countryside Access Team 

2.5. Comments as follows: 

06 October 2022 

Public Footpaths 536055 and 536056 follow an alignment to the east of the 

proposed development area and must not be altered or obstructed before or 

after the development has been completed. 

United Utilities 

10 November 2022 

2.6. Recommends standard conditions in respect of the provision and maintenance of 

surface water drainage infrastructure.  

Historic England  

2.7. Comments as follows: 

19 October 2022 

We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and 

archaeological advisers. 

Sport England  

25 October 2022 

2.8. No objections,subject to conditions.  

Natural England 

2.9. No comments received.   

South Lakeland District Council  

Conservation Officer 

2.10. No comments received.   

Page 52



 

9 

Estates 

2.11. Comments as follows: 

16 November 2022 

… the Estates department have no objection to the above mentioned 

application to create a Sports Pitch (Junior Football) on land adjacent to 

Kendal United Football Club. 

17 November 2022 

SLDC commits to working in partnership other stakeholders to increase the 

parking capacity at Castle Drive in line with the local highway authority’s 

requirements , subject to any required decision making. This is something that 

we have been wanting to do in this location for a number of years. Grass crete 

has been mentioned and if this was utilised over the current car park and an 

extended area of SLDC land to be discussed and agreed it would improve the 

overall look and usability of the area. 

Public Protection 

15 November 2022 

2.12. No objections and no comments  

Specialist – Arboriculture 

2.13. Comments as follows: 

17 October 2022 

The proposed development will require the removal of two small trees and a 

number of recently planted trees to the west of the proposed pitch. The 

smaller trees could be transplanted to other locations around Kendal Castle 

hill. The hedgerow to the east of the site will need to be laid to allow sufficient 

space for the pitch layout. Minor pruning works would be necessary to the row 

of trees along the eastern boundary to raise the crowns of the trees near the 

pitch layout. This work will make the site more visible from the residential 

properties on Castle Drive.  

Providing the development is carried out in accordance with the submitted 

tree survey and tree protection measures, the development will have a minor 

impact upon trees surrounding the site. This impact can be mitigated through 

additional planting. 

Page 53



 

10 

Neighbours/Others  

2.14. We have received 21 letters of representation, 18 objections and 3 observations. 

The following issues are raised: 

 There is insufficient parking to meet the existing needs of Kendal United 

Football Club. The existing car park is too small, and is also used by visitors to 

Castle Hill and Kendal Castle. 

 Lack of on-site parking leads to on-street parking congestion, resulting n 

inconvenience and highway danger: private driveways are blocked; buses are 

unable to navigate safely; drivers are forced to undertake dangerous reversing 

manoeuvres; and the road system has generally become a much more 

dangerous place for children and adults alike. 

 Another pitch will increase parking demand.  

 There are enough sports pitches already. 

 The proposed sports pitch will change publically-accessible land into the private 

preserve of Kendal United Football Club.  

 Lower reaches of Castle Hill are very accessible. Easy circular walk around 

castle at lower level. This will be compromised by proposed pitch. 

 Dog walkers will be banned.  

 Mown football pitch will detract from the setting of Castle Hill.  Character very 

different inside tree-lined boundary of Castle Hill.  

 Does not seem appropriate within the site of an historic monument.  

 Proposal out of place in a conservation area.  

 Proposed football pitch will turn a unique and beautiful part of our town into a 

generic site that could be found anywhere. 

 Steep bank in south-west corner particularly inappropriate. 

 There are better alternatives. 

 Noise from crowds.  

 Not clear what is happening to bench just inside park entrance.  The concrete 

base of the bench was extended a few years to provide year-round access for 

mobility scooters. 

 The impact of the proposal to the local residents, the wider Kendal community 

and visitors to our town outstrip the benefits to the members of the junior football 

club. 

Page 54



 

11 

3.0 Relevant planning history 

3.1. There is no relevant planning history. 

4.0 Relevant planning policies 

South Lakeland Core Strategy 

4.1. The following Core Strategy policies are considered relevant to the proposal: 

CS1.1: Sustainable Development Principles 

CS1.2: The Development Strategy 

CS2: Kendal Strategy 

CS8.1: Green Infrastructure 

CS8.2:  Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and Settlement Character 

CS8.3a: Accessing open space, sport and recreation 

CS8.3b: Quantity of open space, sport and recreation 

CS8.4: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

CS8.6: Historic Environment 

CS8.8: Development and Flood Risk 

CS9.1: Social and community infrastructure 

CS8.10: Design 

CS10.2: Transport impact of new development 

South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan 

Document 

4.2. The following Land Allocations DPD policies are considered relevant to the 

proposal: 

LA1.0:  Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

LA1.1:  Development boundaries 

LA1.10: Existing green infrastructure 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies 

Development Plan Document (DMDPD) 

4.3. The following DMDPD policies are considered relevant to the proposal: 

Page 55



 

12 

DM1:  General Requirements for all development 

DM2: Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

DM3: Historic Environment 

DM4: Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping 

DM5: Rights of Way and other routes providing pedestrian, cycle and 
equestrian access 

DM6: Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems  

DM7: Addressing pollution, contamination impact and water quality 

DM9: Parking Provision, new and loss of car parks 

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework 

4.4. The following sections are considered relevant to this application. 

2.  Achieving sustainable development 
4.  Decision-making 
8. Promoting healthy and safe communities 
12.  Achieving well-designed places 
14.  Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
15.  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

Character Appraisal, Kendal Conservation Area (December 2007)  

Cumbria Development Design Guide 

Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (2011) 

5.0 Assesment 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development 

5.1. Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduces the 

overarching economic, social and environmental objectives central to achieving 

sustainable development.  

5.2. Paragraph 9 of the NPPF is clear that these objectives should be delivered through 

the preparation and implementation of development plans and the application of the 

policies in the NPPF; they are not criteria against which every decision can or 

should be judged. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in 

guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take 

Page 56



 

13 

local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities 

of each area.  

5.3. To these ends paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that plans and decisions should 

apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraphs 11(c) and 

11(d) tell us that for decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 

plan without delay; or  

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 

most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 

permission unless:  

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

proposed1; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 

taken as a whole.  

5.4. Paragraph 12 of the NPPF tells us that: 

“Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan […] 

permission should not usually be granted.” 

Principle of Development  

5.5. The site is within the defined development boundary for Kendal wherein there is a 

general presumption in favour of development, subject to compliance with relevant 

development plan policies and other material considerations.  

Sports provision 

Policy position 

5.6. The Core Strategy establishes as a strategic objective: 

                                            

1 The policies referred to are those in the NPPF (rather than those in development plans) relating to: habitats 
sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 176 of the NPPF) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a 
National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated 
heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 63 of the NPPF); 
and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.   

Page 57



 

14 

Working with partners to deliver sport and recreation schemes, developing 

community facilities such as multi use games areas for young people and 

creating opportunities for healthier lifestyles; 

5.7. Core Strategy policy CS9.1 (Social and community infrastructure) encourages more 

sustainable settlements and communities, with a rich and diverse community life, by 

encouraging a range of community assets, including sport and recreational 

facilities.  

5.8. More recent advice is contained within the NPPF. Paragraph 92 states that 

planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe 

places which, amongst other things: 

enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address 

identified local health and well-being needs – for example through the 

provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local 

shops, access to healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage 

walking and cycling. 

5.9. Paragraph 93 goes on to state that to provide the social, recreational and cultural 

facilities and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should, 

again, amongst other things: 

plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities 

(such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural 

buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local services to 

enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments. 

5.10. And Paragraph 98 makes the point that access to a network of high quality open 

spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health 

and well-being of communities, and to that end it is the government’s expectation 

that planning policies should be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the 

need for open space, sport and recreation facilities (including quantitative or 

qualitative deficits or surpluses) and opportunities for new provision. 

Discussion 

5.11. South Lakeland District Council does not have an up-to-date assessment of need 

for open space, sport and recreation facilities; the current assessment will be 

updated as part of the ongoing local plan review. However, the status of our needs 

assessment is less of an issue in this case, because the main driver behind the 

current application is the applicant’s desire to make compensatory provision for the 

loss an existing playing field associated with development proposed at Sandgate 

School, thereby overcoming an objection from Sport England. Whether or not the 

current proposal succeeds in that objective is immaterial to the merits of this 

application; it will be assessed in the determination of  Sandgate School proposal. 

The current proposal needs to be considered on its site-specific merits. The 

proposal at Sandgate School is only relevant insofar as it means 

Page 58



 

15 

that the current application does not need to demonstrate need; it is proposing 

compensatory provision that will only ever be necessary in the event that the 

existing provision at Sandgate School is lost.  

Loss of open space 

5.12. Important considerations in the determination of this application are the current 

planning status of the application site and the potential impacts of the development 

on that status. Many of the representations we have received point to that fact that 

Castle Hill is publically-accessible open space, with many concerned that the area 

proposed for the playing pitch may become the private preserve of the Football 

Club if this application is approved.  

Policy position 

5.13. Castle Hill is formerly identified in the Land Allocations DPD as “Public open 

space”. This links it to policy LA1.10 (Existing Green Infrastructure), which states: 

THE PUBLIC OPEN SPACES AND AMENITY SPACES IDENTIFIED ON 

THE POLICIES MAP WILL BE SAFEGUARDED FROM DEVELOPMENT 

AND, WHERE POSSIBLE, MANAGED TO ENHANCE THEIR VISUAL, 

CULTURAL, HISTORIC, ENVIRONMENTAL, INFORMAL RECREATION 

AND BIODIVERSITY SIGNIFICANCE BOTH IN THEMSELVES AND AS 

PART OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE NETWORKS.  

DEVELOPMENT AFFECTING PUBLIC OPEN SPACES OR AMENITY 

SPACES WILL NOT BE PERMITTED UNLESS THEIR GREEN 

INFRASTRUCTURE SIGNIFICANCE IS SAFEGUARDED OR ENHANCED. 

5.14. This general position is reflected in paragraph 99 of the NPPF, whish states:   

Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including 

playing fields, should not be built on unless:  

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open 

space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or  

b)  the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 

equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 

location; or  

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 

benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

5.15. “Open Space” for the purposes of interpreting paragraph 99 is defined in the NPPF 

as: 

All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water 

(such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer 

Page 59



 

16 

important opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a visual 

amenity. 

Discussion 

5.16. The playing field proposed by this application would be development for the 

purposes of applying policy LA1.10 and, as it represents formal recreation, it is in 

conflict with the policy. However, referring back to the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development set out above, the policy can be regarded as being out of 

date insofar as it fails to incorporate the flexibility present in the more recent advice 

contained within paragraph 99 of the NPPF. Consequently, if the current proposal is 

judged to meet one or more of the three criteria in paragraph 99 then, by extension, 

the weight to be applied to policy LA1.10 can reduce commensurately. 

5.17. Criteria a) and b) in paragraph 99 are irrelevant in this case, but criteria c) is 

applicable. If Members consider the benefits associated with the new playing pitch 

outweigh the “loss” of the existing public open space then paragraph 99 of the  

NPPF would be satisfied, justifying a departure from Land Allocations DPD policy 

LA1.10. 

5.18. The fact that the new playing field would only ever be provided as compensation for 

the loss of another clearly limits its benefit. Although, the fact that it will be sited in 

immediate proximity to Kendal United Football Club, and is to be used to enhance 

the Club’s existing capacity and inclusivity, is a positive. As is the fact that the 

replacement pitch is to be larger. To qualify as a suitable replacement pitch for the 

purposes of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (Sport England’s yardstick) the pitch proposed in 

this application will be 0.13 hectares larger, to ensure that it is capable of use by a 

range of sports. Sport England expects the new pitch to be operated in accordance 

with a Community Use Scheme. 

5.19. The more compelling argument in this case revolves around what will be “lost”. The 

applicant has confirmed that there is no immediate intention to fence the new pitch, 

which means that it would still be publically accessible at all times when not in use 

for training or matches. The applicant has an understandable anxiety about use of 

the area by dog walkers, but the obvious potential problems in this regard can be 

mitigated by good management – i.e. signs and waste bins – and, of course, 

responsible conduct from the dog owners who (judged by the representations we 

have received) value access to this area so much. If Members are minded to 

approve this application then a condition is recommended to remove the permitted 

development rights that would otherwise allow the erection of means of enclosure 

without planning permission. Any fence around the pitch would then require express 

planning consent. With these provisions in place, the “loss” resulting from this 

proposal, in terms of public access, would be modest, and could reasonably be 

argued as being outweighed by the benefits set out above. That is Sport England’s 

position. 

Page 60



 

17 

Impact on trees 

5.20. A line of mature trees marks the eastern boundary of Castle Hill, underplanted with 

a hedge within the extent of the current application site. The application site also 

includes a number of small, outlying trees on the rising ground to the west. None of 

the trees are protected by a tree preservation order (TPO) and all are within the 

ownership pf the District Council. 

Policy position 

5.21. In policy CS8.1 (Green infrastructure) the Core Strategy states that. Amongst other 

things, it will: 

 Conserve and enhance existing trees and woodlands including requiring the 

planting of new trees and woodlands on appropriate development sites 

Discussion 

5.22. The application is accompanied by a Tree Survey Report, which has surveyed all of 

the trees and hedges within and adjoining the site and categorised them using  

British Standard BS5837: 2012 Trees in Relation to Construction. This reveals a 

good spread within the BS5837: 2012 categories A – C. Trees in Category A are of 

high quality and value with an estimated remaining life expectancy and substantial 

contribution of at least 40 years. Trees in Category B are of moderate quality and 

value with an estimated remaining life expectancy and substantial contribution of at 

least 20 years. And those in Category C are of low quality and value with an 

estimated remaining life expectancy of at least 10 years, or young trees with a stem 

diameter below 150mm. 

5.23. Two trees are proposed to be removed in the application: T17, a Category C alder 

towards the northern end of the playing pitch; and a Category C hawthorn, on the 

rising ground to the west. Both of these trees are either within, or very close to, the 

area of the proposed pitch. Other trees along the eastern boundary are proposed to 

be crown-lifted to maintain the necessary clearance over the pitch.  

5.24. The Council’s arboriculturist raises no objection to the proposals, subject to 

adherence to the arboriculture method statement contained within the Tree Survey 

Report. He also comments that the existing hedge directly abutting the proposed 

playing field, identified as hedge H2 in the Tree Survey Report, would benefit from 

being laid. It is currently quite “gappy”, but with appropriate attention could be 

brought up the standard of hedge H1, to the south of the pedestrian access from 

the car park. The Council’s arboriculturist also notes that the proposed crown-lifting 

will open up views into the site, although additional landscaping could, in time, 

reinforce the boundary planting. A condition requiring submission and 

implementation of a landscaping scheme could be made a condition of any 

consent. 

Page 61



 

18 

Character of the area (including impact on heritage assets) 

5.25. Separate from the issue of public access is the impact that the development will 

have upon the character of the area, another issue raised in many of the 

representations we have received. In particular, Members will need to consider the 

impact on: (1) the significance of Kendal Conservation Area; (2) the setting of 

Kendal Castle; and (3) the wider character of Castle Hill.  

Legislative and policy position 

5.26. Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

states that in determining planning applications in a conservation area “special 

attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 

appearance of that area.”  

Core Strategy 

5.27. In identifying “Protecting and enhancing the quality environment” as a key issue the 

Core Strategy acknowledges that the “rich built heritage of the area has a significant 

cultural value that requires protecting and enhancing.” This then feeds into the 

strategic objective of the Core Strategy to “[p]rotect the historic environment from 

harmful change, including listed buildings, buildings of local importance, 

conservation areas, scheduled ancient monuments and historic parks and gardens.” 

5.28. Section 3 sets out the Spatial Strategy for Kendal, which includes (at paragraph 

3.30) an aim to address a number of challenges/key issues including “[s]afeguarding 

and enhancing the historic assets of the town. This translates into Policy CS2 

(Kendal Strategy), which states that “Kendal will be developed as a Principal Service 

Centre. The Council and its partners aim to [amongst other things] [s]afeguard and 

enhance buildings, sites and areas of heritage and cultural importance utilising the 

findings of the Kendal Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management 

Plan.” 

5.29. Policy CS8.2 (Protection and enhancement of landscape and settlement character) 

is clear that “[d]evelopment proposals should demonstrate that their location, scale, 

design and materials will protect, conserve and, where possible, enhance [amongst 

other things]  

The special qualities and local distinctiveness of the area; 

Distinctive settlement character; 

The setting of, and views into and from the AONB, the National Parks, 

conservation areas and individual built/manmade features that contribute to 

landscape and settlement character such as […] Kendal Castle […]” 

Page 62



 

19 

5.30. With respect to the historic environment Policy CS8.6 (Historic environment) is 

explicit that the Core Strategy supports a number of objectives, including: 

The safeguarding and, where possible, enhancing of historic environment 

assets, including their characteristic settings and any attributes that contribute 

to a sense of local distinctiveness. Such assets include listed buildings and 

features (both statutory and locally listed), conservation areas, scheduled 

ancient monuments and registered parks and gardens. 

The production of conservation area management plans to identify and 

explain how the Council will seek to preserve and enhance the special interest 

of such areas. [and] 

The safeguarding and, where possible enhancement of, locally important 

archaeological sites and features within the historic environment. 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan 

Document (DMDPD) 

5.31. Subject to other policies in the development plan, Policy DM1 (General 

Requirements for all development) states that development will be acceptable 

provided, amongst other things, it “ensures the protection and enhancement of the 

District’s natural, built and historic environment qualities […]”. 

5.32. Policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) states that development 

will be supported provided certain design principles are met. Insofar as heritage 

assets are concerned these include ensuring that development: (1) responds 

appropriately to local and settlement character and reinforces and promotes local 

distinctiveness; and (2) responds appropriately to local context, landscape and built 

and natural environment setting. 

5.33. Policy DM2 (Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design) supports development 

provided certain design principles are met. These include ensuring that 

development: (1) responds appropriately to local and settlement character and 

reinforces and promotes local distinctiveness; and (2) responds appropriately to 

local context, landscape and built and natural environment setting. It also states that 

“[n]ew development should deliver variety, diversity and interest by […] avoiding 

bland monotonous forms of development that promote little interest and variety” 

5.34. Policy DM3 (Historic Environment) states that “Development proposals will 

safeguard and, where appropriate, enhance all heritage assets and their settings, in 

a manner that is appropriate to their particular significance.” It then goes on to 

provide general advice on “Assessing Significance and Impact” and more detailed 

advice on what that means for: (1) listed buildings; (2) archaeology, includinf 

scheduled monuments; (3) historic parks, gardens and landscapes; (4) conservation 

areas; and (5) non designated heritage assets of local significance. Where relevant 

this advice is referred to under subsequent headings below. 

Page 63



 

20 

Other material considerations 

NPPF 

5.35. Section 16 of the NPPF, Conserving and enhancing the historic environment, 

provides Government policy on how local planning authorities should meet their 

statutory obligations in respect of heritage assets, as set out above. The thrust of 

the Government’s policy insofar as it is relevant to the current planning application is 

summarised below.  

5.36. In determining applications that are likely to affect heritage assets, paragraph 189 of 

the NPPF establishes that: 

... local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the 

significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made 

by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ 

importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact 

of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic 

environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets 

assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on 

which development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, 

heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should 

require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, 

where necessary, a field evaluation. 

5.37. Paragraph 195 requires local planning authorities to identify and assess the 

particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal, 

including development affecting its setting, taking account of available evidence and 

any necessary expertise. Local planning authorities are required to take this into 

account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset.  

5.38. The NPPF defines “significance” for the purposes of applying its heritage policy as:   

The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its 

heritage interest. The interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or 

historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical 

presence, but also from its setting. For World Heritage Sites, the cultural value 

described within each site’s Statement of Outstanding Universal Value forms 

part of its significance. 

5.39. “Setting” is defined as: 

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not 

fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a 

setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an 

asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral. 

Page 64



 

21 

5.40. In determining applications, paragraph 197, requires local planning authorities to 

take account of:  

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 

and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 

sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  

the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness.  

5.41. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 

designated heritage asset, paragraph 199 is clear that great weight should be given 

to the asset’s conservation. This is irrespective of the level of any potential harm to 

its significance. 

5.42. The NPPF defines “conservation” for the purposes of applying its heritage policy as:   

The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way 

that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance.” 

5.43. Paragraph 200 states that any harm to, or loss of, significance to a designated 

heritage asset, should require clear and convincing justification. Paragraph 201 

states that: 

Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss 

of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 

should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial 

harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 

outweigh that harm or loss … 

5.44. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, paragraph 202 is clear that this harm 

should still be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, albeit that those 

benefits are not explicitly required to be “substantial”.  

5.45. In assessing whether any harm is substantial the Government’s Planning Practice 

Guidance offers the following commentary: 

What matters in assessing if a proposal causes substantial harm is the impact 

on the significance of the heritage asset. As the National Planning Policy 

Framework makes clear, significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s 

physical presence, but also from its setting. 

Whether a proposal causes substantial harm will be a judgment for the 

decision taker, having regard to the circumstances of the case and the policy 

in the National Planning Policy Framework. In general terms, substantial harm 

is a high test, so it may not arise in many cases. For example, in determining 

whether works to a listed building constitute substantial 

Page 65



 

22 

harm, an important consideration would be whether the adverse impact 

seriously affects a key element of its special architectural or historic interest. It 

is the degree of harm to the asset’s significance rather than the scale of the 

development that is to be assessed. The harm may arise from works to the 

asset or from development within its setting. 

While the impact of total destruction is obvious, partial destruction is likely to 

have a considerable impact but, depending on the circumstances, it may still 

be less than substantial harm or conceivably not harmful at all, for example, 

when removing later inappropriate additions to historic buildings which harm 

their significance. Similarly, works that are moderate or minor in scale are 

likely to cause less than substantial harm or no harm at all. However, even 

minor works have the potential to cause substantial harm.” 

Discussion 

5.46. As one moves from the existing Football Club car park onto Castle Hill via the 

existing pedestrian gateway there is a distinct change in character, reinforced by 

the prominent group of trees that aligns with this boundary. To the east of this 

boundary the character is determined by housing and formal recreation provision, 

whereas to the west, within Castle Hill, the character is far more open, with a sense 

of unrestricted access and impressive views towards Kendal Castle.  

5.47. Castle Hill lies within Character Area 9 in the Kendal Conservation Area Character 

Appraisal – “The Castle and east of the river”. The Character Appraisal’s 

description of the key characteristics of this area in paragraph 6.9.11 provides a 

proxy for the “significance” that needs to be taken into account for NPPF purposes: 

The Kendal Castle open space and ancient monument acts as a very 

important physical reminder of Kendal’s early history as a settlement and 

strategically important town. The upstanding masonry remains, some of which 

survive to a considerable height, include extensive fragments of curtain wall to 

an inner bailey that includes square and round towers, a gatehouse and a 

great hall, surrounded by steep slopes dotted with sporadic clusters of trees. 

This inner bailey is surrounded by a very extensive outer ward which forms an 

important open green space, and is edged by a band of mature trees along 

almost all of the west and southern edges, which act as a clearly defined and 

very important physical perimeter between the open space and the built up 

urban morphology below. The castle hill and castle ruins form a very 

significant and impressive landmark in many wider views, as well as in 

countless glimpses between buildings, from countless parts of the 

conservation area. 

5.48. The immediate area of the application site contains a relatively flat, albeit uneven, 

section of ground, which is currently maintained as an informal football pitch, with 

two sets of goalposts. The geo-environmental report submitted with this application 

Page 66



 

23 

shows a large part of this area to be made-up ground, with trial pits having revealed 

debris consistent with a former ash tip.  

5.49. The new playing pitch incorporates as much of this existing “level” ground as 

possible, but its significantly greater size means that it will also cut into higher 

ground in the south-west, with the excavated material being redistributed elsewhere 

to create the even surface necessary to meet Sport England's relevant standards. 

The submitted drawings show the cut to be approximately 4m deep in the extreme 

south-west corner of the proposed pitch, with the ground then raked back at an 

angle of 1 in 2 behind. There are no landscaping proposals submitted with the 

application, but it would be reasonable to assume that the resulting embankment 

can be planted with grass. A proposed drainage system under the pitch is shown 

connecting to a soakaway which is also cut into higher ground at the southern end 

of the site, but we are told that the existing ground levels here will be restored once 

the soakaway has been installed. This could be confirmed via planning condition. 

5.50. Overall, the new pitch will introduce an obviously artificial feature into this area, 

most apparent through the large manicured surface of the playing surface and the 

significant excavation in the south-west corner. This artificiality will jar with the 

relatively natural feel of the rest of Castle Hill. Having said that, the impact will be 

very limited in extent and none of the important views of Kendal Castle will be 

obscured. Nevertheless, the impact will harm the significance of this part of the 

conservation area, and, to a lesser extent, the setting of Kendal Castle, albeit that 

the harm would be less than substantial in NPPF terms. Members will need to 

weigh this harm against the public benefits of the scheme in the final planning 

balance. 

5.51. Notwithstanding the application site’s proximity to Kendal Conservation the County 

Council’s Historic Environment Officer is not seeking any archaeological evaluation.  

Access and parking 

5.52. The overwhelming concern in the representations we have received is that the 

proposals will exacerbate the on-street parking congestion that already occurs 

when the football club’s existing pitches are in use. Reference is made to the limited 

space in the existing off-street car park and to the fact that these spaces also serve 

the needs of visitors to Castle Hill (a point that is explicit on SLDC’s website). 

Comments are made that existing periods of congestion result in: private driveways 

being blocked; buses being unable to navigate safely; drivers being forced to 

undertake dangerous reversing manoeuvres; and the road system generally 

becoming a much more dangerous place for children and adults alike. 

Policy position  

The Core Strategy 

Page 67



 

24 

5.53. Core Strategy policy CS10.2 (Transport impact of new development) states that: 

Development will be designed to reduce the need to travel and to maximise 

the use of sustainable forms of transport appropriate to its particular location.  

5.54. It also states that development proposals will be considered against a number of 

criteria, including: 

 The proposal provides for safe and convenient access on foot, cycle, public and 

private transport, addressing the needs of all, including those with a disability; 

 The proposal is capable of being served by safe access to the highway network 

without detriment to the amenity or character of the locality; and 

 The expected nature and volume of traffic generated by the proposal could be 

accommodated by the existing road network without detriment to the amenity or 

character of the surrounding area, local air quality or highway safety;  

NPPF 

5.55. In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific 

applications for development, paragraph 110 of the NPPF states it should be 

ensured that, amongst other things, safe and suitable access to the site can be 

achieved for all users. And paragraph 111 states:  

Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 

there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 

cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

Discussion 

5.56. Where formal recreational facilities lie within, or are close to, residential areas, 

overspill street parking is common problem; dedicated parking is rarely sufficient to 

meet peak demands. Although that same proximity also opens up convenient 

opportunities to arrive by means other than the car – i.e. walking and cycling.  

5.57. Looking at the existing situation for Kendal United Football Club, the available off-

street parking is limited. The area adjoining the main clubhouse can hold (according 

to one of the representations we have received) a maximum of approximately 23 

vehicles, but this area is not exclusively for the Club; it also serves as a public car 

park for Castle Hill and Kendal Castle. Therefore, the existing on-street parking 

problems referred to by adjoining residents are to be expected.  

5.58. The pitch proposed by the current application will inevitably add to parking 

pressures; there are bound to be times when the new pitch will attract users over 

and above those using the established facilities. And that could exacerbate the 

problems already being reported by adjoining residents.  

5.59. The local highway authority acknowledges this concern, noting that, ideally, the off-

street parking capacity in the immediate vicinity of the Football 

Page 68



 

25 

Club should be doubled (at least) to address existing and future demand. Increased 

provision does not form part of the current application, but Cumbria County Council 

and the District Council have confirmed a  commitment to work collaboratively with 

other stakeholders (including Kendal United Football Club and local residents) to 

pursue such an acceptable solution. On that basis, the local highway authority is not 

objecting to the application. This approach does come with risks - i.e. that the 

stakeholders will never be able to reach a consensus, or that, even if they do, the 

preferred solution fails to get any planning permission that might be required. In the 

circumstances, these risks seem low but Members will need to weigh this issue 

carefully in the planning balance.  

Public rights of way 

5.60. Two public rights of way pass through the application site, on the car park side of 

the Castle Hill boundary. Neither is directly affected by the proposals and the 

County Council’s Countryside Access Team has issued its standard response, 

drawing the applicant’s attention to the statutory position in respect of these rights 

of way being altered or obstructed.  

Living conditions 

5.61. A number of the representations we have received raise concerns about the 

potential for noise disturbance during matches and training sessions. The closest 

residential properties in Castle Walk are positioned approximately 30m from the 

edge of the proposed pitch.  

Policy position 

Core Strategy 

5.62. It is a strategic objective of the Core Strategy “to protect the unique character of the 

District by […] preventing where possible or mitigating against the effects of” a range 

of environmental issues, including noise.  

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan 

Document (DMDPD) 

5.63. Policy DM7 (Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact, and Water Quality) states 

that development will be permitted where the direct, indirect and cumulative effects 

of pollution (including noise) will not have a negative impact on health, the 

environment (including wildlife and tranquility) and general amenity of existing or 

future occupiers and users or any sensitive receptor. To meet this objective the 

policy states that  developers must be able to show as part of their proposal that any 

impacts are at or below acceptable levels, if necessary by use of appropriate and 

proportionate mitigating measures and application of limiting conditions to 

permissions to control impacts (both on and off-site).  

Page 69



 

26 

Other material considerations 

NPPF 

5.64. Section 15 of the NPPF, Conserving and enhancing the natural environment, is 

clear in paragraph 174 that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 

natural and local environment by, amongst other things; 

“[…] preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put 

at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels 

of […] noise pollution […]” 

5.65. Paragraph 185 states that planning decisions  

“[…] should also ensure that new development is appropriate for its location 

taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution 

on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as the 

potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise 

from the development. In doing so they should […] mitigate and reduce to a 

minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new 

development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on 

health and the quality of life” 

Discussion 

5.66. Outdoor sports facilities do have the potential to cause disturbance where they are 

in close proximity to established residential development, albeit that any 

disturbance will tend to be intermittent and not constant.  

5.67. There is nothing within the planning history for the Kendal United Football Club that 

limits hours of use of its existing pitches; it appears to operate through self-policing. 

So there is no precedent for imposing any restrictions on the use of this new pitch 

and the Council’s Public Protection Team is not recommending any. The fact that 

proposed pitch is not to be floodlit means that lack of available daylight will become 

a natural restriction.   

5.68. If permission is approved it is recommended that conditions are imposed requiring: 

(1) a Construction Method Statement to mitigate the potential effects of the 

construction process on existing nearby properties; and (2) a limitation of 

construction working hours.  

Flood risk 

Policy position 

5.69. The stated purpose of DMDPD policy DM6 (Flood Risk Management and 

Sustainable Drainage Systems) is “[t]o ensure existing and new development is not 

Page 70



 

27 

exposed to flood risk and to prioritise the promotion of Sustainable Drainage 

Systems.” To that end it states that: 

“Development proposals should include the use of appropriate sustainable 

drainage systems which are designed to control surface water run off close to 

where it falls and mimic natural drainage systems as closely as possible.” 

5.70. Furthermore, the policy states that: 

“Surface water should be managed at the source, with reduced transfer and 

discharge elsewhere.” 

5.71. And, consistent with the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance2, the policy 

expects surface run off to be discharged as high up the following hierarchy of 

drainage options as reasonably practicable: 

 into the ground (infiltration at source);  

 to a surface water body;  

 to a surface water sewer, or other suitable surface water drainage system;  

 to a combined sewer.  

Discussion 

5.72. This application includes proposals to provide a number of lateral drains under the 

proposed pitch to help maintain an appropriate playing surface. These drains are 

shown feeding into a soakaway situated to the south of the pitch, partly cut into 

higher ground. Infiltration via a soakaway is the optimum approach promoted by our 

policy and the lead local flood authority has confirmed that the proposals are 

satisfactory in this case. The applicant has confirmed that any excavation 

necessary to install the soakaway will be reinstated once the installation is 

complete. This requirement can be reinforced by a condition.  

Biodiversity 

Policy position 

5.73. At a general level, Core Strategy policy CS8.2 (Protection and enhancement of 

landscape and settlement character) expects all development proposals to 

demonstrate that their location, scale, design and materials will protect, conserve 

and, where possible, enhance (amongst other things) “The pattern of distinctive 

features such as hedges, walls, traditional buildings, woodlands, hay meadows, 

                                            

2 Paragraph: 080 Reference ID: 7-080-20150323 

Page 71



 

28 

wetlands, valleys, fells and rivers, and their function as ecological corridors for 

wildlife”.  

5.74. More specifically, Core Strategy policy CS8.4 (Biodiversity and geodiversity) states 

that all development proposals should: 

 Protect, enhance and restore the biodiversity and geodiversity value of 

land and buildings; 

 Minimise fragmentation and maximise opportunities for restoration, 

enhancement and connection of natural habitats (including links to 

habitats outside South Lakeland); and 

 Incorporate beneficial biodiversity and geodiversity conservation 

features, including features that will help wildlife to adapt to climate 

change where appropriate. 

5.75. DMDPD policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 

Landscaping) states that “All development proposals should, unless it can be 

demonstrated that it is not possible, result in environmental net gains for 

biodiversity …”  

Discussion 

5.76. The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, the 

executive summary of which states:   

A data search and desk study of the site and an area within 2km of the site 

were undertaken to establish the presence of protected species and notable 

habitats. 

The site was then visited by licenced ecologists from Envirotech NW Ltd on 

the 8th September 2022. A full botanical survey of the site was initially 

undertaken and this was  followed by surveys to establish the presence or 

absence of notable species at the site or in proximity such that they may be 

affected by the proposed development. 

The plant species assemblages recorded at the site are all common in the 

local area and are considered to be of low ecological value.  

No bats were recorded roosting on or near site.  

Birds are unlikely to utilise the site for nesting due to public access and 

disturbance.  

No other notable or protected species were recorded on the site. 

5.77. No attempt has been made to demonstate a biodiversity net gain as part of the 

scheme, but there is clearly scope witin the proposals to do this (particularly 

Page 72



 

29 

through landscaping and hedge-laying) and could be made a condition of 

permission should Members be minded to approve the application. 

Conclusion 

5.78. This application proposes a new junior football pitch on land owned by South 

Lakeland District Council. It is intended to provide replacement playing field 

capacity to mitigate a proposed loss at Queen Katherine School, Appleby Road, 

arising from concurrent proposals by Cumbria County Council to extend the 

Sandgate Special Educational Needs School facilities, currently being considered 

under application reference SL/2021/0495. The new pitch adjoins, and would be run 

in conjunction with, Kendal United Football Club.  

5.79. The pitch is located within an area identified as existing public open space in the 

adopted development plan, where the focus is on informal recreation. Formal sports 

pitch provision would be at odds with that, although recent government  policy in 

paragraph 99 of the NPPF is supportive of proposals in circumstances where the 

benefits of alternative sports and recreational provision clearly outweigh the loss of 

the current or former use. That requires Members’ judgment. In this case, although 

the new pitch is being proposed as compensation, and will not add to the overall 

stock of facilities, Sport England acknowledges (and requires) that it will be of better 

quality than the pitch it replaces. Furthermore, the location of the pitch will have the 

benefit of providing Kendal United Football Club with the opportunity to expand the 

range and inclusivity of its operation. Local concerns about the potential loss of 

public access to the site can be addressed by a  condition taking away the 

permitted development rights that would otherwise allow the area to be fenced 

without planning permission.  

5.80. The pitch will introduce an obviously artificial form of development into an otherwise 

relatively natural environment. This will harm the character of Kendal Conservation 

Area and the setting of Kendal Castle, albeit less than substantially so in NPPF 

terms. If, having given careful consideration to this level of harm, Members consider 

that it is justified when weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, then the 

NPPF policy will be satisfied, and, by extension, Members will have paid the special 

attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 

of that area as required by Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

5.81. There is significant local concern that an additional playing pitch will attract further 

traffic, exacerbating existing on-street parking congestion leading to further 

inconvenience for local residents and compromising road safety. The local highway 

authority acknowledges this concern, noting that, ideally, the off-street parking 

capacity in the immediate vicinity of the Football Club should be doubled (at least) to 

address existing and future demand. Increased provision does not form part of the 

current application, but Cumbria County Council and the District Council have 

confirmed a  commitment to work collaboratively with other 

Page 73



 

30 

stakeholders (including Kendal United Football Club and local residents) to pursue 

such an acceptable solution. On that basis, the local highway authority is not 

objecting to the application.  

5.82. Outdoor sports facilities do have the potential to cause disturbance where they are 

in close proximity to established residential development, albeit that any 

disturbance will tend to be intermittent and not constant. In this case, there is 

nothing within the planning history for the Kendal United Football Club that limits 

hours of use of its existing pitches; it appears to operate through self-policing. So 

there is no precedent for imposing any restrictions on the use of this new pitch and 

the Council’s Public Protection Team is not recommending any. Conditions are 

recommended requiring: (1) a Construction Method Statement to mitigate the 

potential effects of the construction process on existing nearby properties; and (2) a 

limitation of construction working hours.  

5.83. Other conditions are recommended to: (1) ensure that new pitch achieves Sport 

England’s require standards; (2) protect existing trees during construction; (3) 

provide for new landscaping; (4) and deliver a 10% net gain in biodiversity. 

5.84. To the extent that development plan policies are material to an application for 

planning permission the decision must be taken in accordance with the 

development plan unless there are material considerations that indicate otherwise3. 

In this case, the proposal is broadly consistent with the development plan, or can be 

made so with conditions, except in respect of policy LA1.10 of the Land Allocations 

DPD, which seeks to safeguard existing public open space from development. 

However, in this case, compliance with paragraph 99 of the NPPF is judged to be a 

material consideration that outweighs the policy concern. That same public benefit 

is also judged to outweigh the less than substantial harm identified to Kendal 

Conservation Area and he setting of Kendal Castle. Consequently, this application 

is recommended for approval, subject tro conditions.  

6.0 Recommendation  

6.1. The application is recomended for approval, subject to the following conditions: 

Condition (1): The development shall begin not later than THREE YEARS from 

the date of this decision. 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

                                            

3 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 

Page 74



 

31 

 

Condition (2): The development to which this permission relates shall be carried 

out in accordance with the following approved plans: 

 Location Plan 20057-CD01A  

 Proposed block plan 20057-CD02A  

 Indicative Proposed Earthworks 1769-003 P7  

 Proposed Pitch Layout 1769-002 P4 

 Indicative Proposed Drainage Layout 1769-004 P2  

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

Condition (3)  No development shall take place unless and until:  

a) A detailed assessment of ground conditions of the land 

proposed for the new playing field shown on the approved 

drawings listed in condition (2) above has been undertaken 

(including drainage and topography) to identify constraints 

which could affect playing field quality; and  

b) Based on the results of the assessment to be carried out 

pursuant to (a) above, a detailed scheme to ensure that the 

playing fields will be provided to an acceptable quality (including 

appropriate drainage where necessary) shall have been 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

authority.  

Thereafter, the works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved scheme and within a timescale to be first approved in 

writing by the local planning authority 

Reason:  To ensure provision of an adequate quality playing field and to 

accord with policy 9.1 (Social and community infrastructure) of the 

South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 

Condition (4):  The playing field shall be used for Outdoor Sport and for no other 

purpose (including without limitation any other purpose in Class F.2 

(Local Community) of The Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) Order 1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent 

to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting 

that Order with or without modification).  

Page 75



 

32 

Reason:  To protect the sports pitch from loss and/or damage, to maintain 

the quality of and secure the safe use of the sports pitch and to 

accord with policy 9.1 (Social and community infrastructure) of the 

South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 

Condition (5): The playing pitch hereby approved shall not be first brought into 

use until a Management and Maintenance Scheme for the facility, 

including: (i) management responsibilities; (ii) a maintenance 

schedule; and (iii) a mechanism for review, has been submitted to, 

and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Thereafter, 

the Management and Maintenance Scheme shall be complied with 

for the lifetime of the development.  

Reason:  To ensure sufficient benefit from the development to sport in 

accordance with paragraph 99 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

  

Condition (6):  The playing pitch hereby approved shall not be first brought into 

use until a Community Use Scheme for its future operation has 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

authority. The scheme shall include details of pricing policy, hours 

of use, access by non-educational establishment users/non-

members, management responsibilities, a mechanism for review 

and a programme for implementation. Thereafter, the Community 

Use Scheme shall be complied with for the lifetime of the 

development.  

 Reason:  To ensure sufficient benefit from the development to sport in 

accordance with paragraph 99 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 

Condition (7): Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 

order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 

modification), no gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure 

shall be constructed within the application site without the prior 

written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To maintain reasonable public access to the sports pitch in 

accordance with the policy LA1.10 (Existing green infrastructure) of 

the South Lakeland Land Allocations Development Plan 

Document. 

Page 76



 

33 

 

Condition (8):   No development shall take place, including any works of 

demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 

authority. The Statement shall provide for: 

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development;  

iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where 
appropriate;  

v. wheel washing facilities;  

vi. measures to control silt / soil run off; 

vii. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 
construction;  

viii. a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from 
demolition and construction works; and  

ix. measures to control noise and vibration.  

Thereafter, the approved Construction Method Statement shall be 

adhered to throughout the construction period.  

Reason:  To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in accordance 

with Policy DM7 (Addressing pollution, contamination impact and 

water quality) of the Development Management Policies 

Development Plan Document. 

 

Condition (9): Construction work shall not take place outside the hours of 0800 – 

1800 Monday to Friday or 0900 – 1300 on Saturdays, nor at any 

time on bank holidays.  

Reason:  To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in accordance 

with Policy DM7 (Addressing pollution, contamination impact and 

water quality) of the Development Management Policies 

Development Plan Document. 

 

Condition (10): No development shall commence until a soft landscaping scheme 

has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 

planning authority. The scheme shall include details of: (i) planting 

Page 77



 

34 

plans; (ii) existing vegetation to be retained; (iii) written 

specifications and schedules of proposed plants noting species, 

planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities; (iv) an 

implementation timetable; and (v) a schedule of landscape 

maintenance proposals for a period of not less than five years from 

the date of completion of the scheme. The scheme must also 

include proposals for the laying and reinforcing of hedge H2 

identified in the submitted Tree Survey Report prepared by 

Westwood Landscape (Revision A 29.09.22). Thereafter, the 

approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented and 

maintained in accordance with the agreed details and timetables. 

Reason:  To safeguard and enhance the character of the area in accordance 

with policy DM4 (Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, 

Trees and Landscaping) of the South Lakeland Development 

Management Policies Development Plan Document. 

 

Condition (11) No development shall commence until the tree protection 

measures detailed in section 4.0 of the submitted Tree Survey 

Report prepared by Westwood Landscape (Revision A 29.09.22) 

have been fully implemented. Thereafter, the construction phase of 

the development shall proceed in accordance with remaining 

provisions of section 4.0.  

Reason: To protect existing trees in accordance with policy DM4 (Green and 

Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 

Plan Document. 

 

Condition (12): No development shall commence until a scheme demonstrating an 

environmental net gain in biodiversity associated with the proposed 

development, including management proposals for the lifetime of 

the development, has been submitted to, and approved in writing 

by the local planning authority. The scheme must be prepared in 

the context of the relevant advice in the Government’s Planning 

Practice Guidance and any other relevant best practice, using the 

submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal prepared by Envirotech 

Ecological Consultants (report ref. 8180) as a baseline. Thereafter, 

the site shall be maintained in accordance with the approved 

management proposals. 

Reason: To meet the requirements of policy DM4 (Green and Blue 

Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and Landscaping) of the of the 

Page 78



 

35 

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development 

Plan Document. 

 

Condition (13): Any ground excavated beyond the limits of the playing surface of 

the playing pitch hereby approved in order to facilitate the 

installation of drainage infrastructure shall be reinstated to its 

original profile once that installation is complete.  

Reason:  To protect the character of Castle Hill and the Kendal Conservation 

Area in accordance with policy LA1.10 (Existing Green 

Infrastrusture) of the South Lakeland Land Allocations 

Development Plan Document and policy DM3 (Historic 

Environment) of the South Lakeland Development Management 

Policies Development Plan Document 

 

  

Page 79



 

36 

 

  

 

Page 80


	Agenda
	6 Planning Application no. SL/2021/0495 Sandgate School at Queen Katherine School site, Appleby Road, KENDAL, LA9 6PJ
	7 Planning Application no. SL/2022/0858 Land adjacent to Kendal United Football Club, Castle Drive, KENDAL

